
 

 
 

Area Planning Committee (North) 
 
 
Date Thursday 31 October 2019 

Time 1.00 pm 

Venue Council Chamber - County Hall, Durham 

 
Business 

 
Part A 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 September 2019 
(Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest (if any)   

5. Applications to be determined by the Area Planning Committee 
(North Durham)   

 a) DM/17/02333/OUT - Land to the North East of Castledene 
Road, Delves Lane  (Pages 11 - 40) 

  Outline planning application with all matters reserved (except 
access) for up to 105 dwellings including associated 
infrastructure and open space provision (amended 
description 04/12/2018) 

 b) DM/19/02431/FPA - The Wicket Gate, 193 Front Street, 
Chester-le-Street  (Pages 41 - 50) 

  Proposed removal of ground floor windows to Front Street 
elevation and insertion of sliding folding glazed doors to new 
openings formed 

6. Planning Development Management Performance Summary 
Q1/Q2 - 2019/20  (Pages 51 - 54) 

7. Appeal Update  (Pages 55 - 56) 

8. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 



 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
23 October 2019 
 
 
To: The Members of the Area Planning Committee (North) 

 
 Councillor I Jewell (Chair) 

Councillor S Wilson (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors A Bainbridge, A Bell, L Boyd, D Boyes, J Higgins, 
A Hopgood, C Kay, O Milburn, C Martin, J Robinson, A Shield, 
J Shuttleworth, K Thompson and T Tucker 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Amanda Stephenson Tel: 03000 269 712 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE (NORTH) 
 
 

At a Meeting of the Area Planning Committee (North) held in the County Hall, 
Durham on Thursday 26 September 2019 at 1.00 pm 

 

Present: 
 

Councillor I Jewell (Chair) 

 

Members of the Committee: 

Councillors A Bainbridge, A Bell, D Boyes, A Hopgood, O Milburn, C Martin, 
T Tucker and M Wilson (substitute for S Wilson) 
 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S Wilson, L Boyd, 
J Higgins, C Kay, J Robinson, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and K Thompson 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 

Councillor M Wilson substituted for Councillor S Wilson. 
 

3 Minutes of the Meeting  
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2019 were confirmed as correct 
record by the Committee and signed by the Chair. 
 

4 Declarations of Interest  
 

There were no Declarations of Interest submitted. 
 

5 Applications to be determined by the Area Planning Committee 
(North Durham)  
 
a DM/19/02097/FPA - Land at Lavender Gardens and Uphill 

Drive, Sacriston  
 

The Committee considered a report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding 
an application to build nineteen 2-bedroomed, 3-person bungalow dwellings 
at Lavender Gardens and Uphill Drive, Sacriston (for copy see file of 
minutes).   
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



S France, Senior Planning Officer provided a detailed presentation of the 
application which included a site location plan, aerial photograph, site 
photographs and proposed development layout.  
 

The Chair thanked the Senior Planning Officer for his presentation.    
 
Miss O’Shea of Karbon Homes addressed the Committee in support of the 
application.   
 
Miss O’Shea noted that Karbon Homes was a profit for a purpose Landlord 
that owned/ managed almost 30,000 properties across the North East of 
England and Yorkshire.  They invested in improving their properties and 
communities by building new homes and delivering services which provided 
sustainable outcomes.  Karbon Homes wanted to invest more than £8 million 
in the village of Sacriston with various developments in the pipeline.   
 
The bungalows would be spacious and to a high modern standard with plenty 
of parking.  The garages in the area would be demolished as they were in a 
dilapidated state of disrepair.   
 
A public meeting had been held at the Fulforth Centre in Sacriston in July 
2019 where Karbon Homes presented the scheme to the Parish, County 
Councillors along with residents.  This highlighted the plans for the 
development along with getting an understanding of local housing needs 
including the shortage of high-quality family homes and bungalows for older 
residents. 
 
Miss O’Shea stated that Karbon Homes were on the final stages of building 
twenty-four 2-3 bedroomed family homes in the village of Sacriston and were 
also in the process of developing a further 25 new family homes on the 
former sheltered accommodation site.  They had 98 new homes programmed 
in the pipeline over the next 18 months.  Properties were available to rent via 
the Key Options website. 
 
The Chair thanked Miss O’Shea and asked the Committee for their 
comments and questions. 
 
Councillor T Tucker asked where in relation to the development the nearest 
amenity space was and what this comprised of.  The Senior Planning Officer 
showed on the aerial photograph that there was a small mown grassed 
amenity space with no facilities a short distance away from the development.  
 
Councillor A Bell noted his disappointment at the loss of the open spaced 
area.  He hoped this was not a sign of things to come with more open spaces 
being lost that would be detrimental to children being able to play outside.  

Page 4



He was surprised there were only two objections to the application and 
commended Karbon on building bungalows for elderly people.   
 
Councillor D Bell requested clarity on what activities the land had been used 
for in the past.  The Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee that the 
area had been informal mown grassed land used by children to play football 
and the like.  He also noted that Durham County Council were given money 
in lieu of on-site provision of open space.  The calculation for the money was 
complex but precise and considered an open space assessment looking at 
what land had been displaced, what the land had been used for and the 
needs of new residents. 
 
Councillor D Bell asked what the money the Council received would be used 
for.  The Senior Planning Officer informed the Committee that the money was 
held by the Council as a grant that people and the Parish Council could apply 
for to fund projects in their area.  
 
Councillor A Hopgood requested information about the availability of public 
transport and amenities.  She was concerned that the incline of the area 
would prove difficult to negotiate for elderly people. The Senior Planning 
Officer replied that there were bus services available on the main road to the 
North or in the village centre where there was a small supermarket.   
 
Councillor A Hopgood expressed concerned about the ground level of the 
bungalows.  She did not want a repeat of the incident in Pelton where the 
ground levels were raised leaving the living rooms of the bungalows that 
were built overlooking the bedrooms of the houses below.  The Senior 
Planning Officer replied that if the application was approved an extra 
condition could be added regarding floor levels.  Councillor A Hopgood 
moved approval of the application with the additional condition. 
 
Councillor A Bell requested that the spending of the s106 funding remain in 
the area.  The Senior Planning Officer noted that it could be made a 
requirement of the legal agreement that the money would remain for use in 
the Electoral Division of Sacriston. 
 
The Chair informed the Committee that Councillor A Hopgood had moved 
approval of the application subject to clarification on ground levels, that 
financial contributions be used within the Electoral Division and a 
contamination verification report be carried out, and this was seconded by 
Councillor D Bell.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



Upon a vote taken it was unanimously;  
 
Resolved 
That the application be APPROVED for the reasons outlined in the report 
with addition of Conditions relating to contaminated land, ground levels and 
s106 monies be spent in the Electoral Division. 
 

b DM/19/01992/FPA - The Crest, Beamishburn Road, Beamish, 
Stanley  

 

The Principal Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation on the report 
relating to the above-mentioned planning application (for copy see file of 
minutes).  
 
The Chair thanked the Principal Planning Officer for the presentation of her 
report.   
 
Mr A Kennedy, local resident of Beamishburn Road addressed the 
Committee in objection to the application.  Mr Kennedy thanked the 
Committee for the opportunity to speak and informed the Committee that he 
had concerns about the proposed development. 
 
His main concern was regarding highway safety.  Access to the new 
properties would be through the existing entrance to Beamishburn Road 
which was opposite a pub.   
 
There were also safety concerns as the road had a bend and slight incline.  It 
would increase the number of cars including agricultural vehicles in the area 
compromising both the safety of pedestrians and motorists. The danger was 
enhanced as there were no pathways in some parts of the road. 
 
The re-submitted application still proposed an unsympathetic, overbearing 
design that dominated the skyline.  The roof line was the same height as the 
original application even though the second floor of the property had been 
removed.  The planting of trees to replace those that would be removed 
would take up to 20 years to screen the properties.  Mr Kennedy expressed 
concern that the planting may not be undertaken as planting had failed in 
parts of the adjacent estate and no planning enforcement had taken place.   
 
The development would increase the number of homes in the street from four 
to six.  Long term the applicant could sell the homes leaving his legacy 
behind spoiling the rural aesthetics of the area. Mr Kennedy re-iterated that 
he also voiced the strong opposition of other residents to this application.  
 
The Principal Planning Officer presented to the Committee photographs of 
the area that showed the extension of the South Causey Inn.  It was noted 

Page 6



that the development would be visible as it would be in an elevated position, 
but this would not be any more visible than the existing properties.  The 
landscaping condition would be monitored by Officers and the Compliance 
Officer to ensure that all the conditions were met. The motives of the 
applicant could not be considered in the decision making process.   
 
The Principal DM Engineer informed the Committee that it was unlikely that 
the new development would increase traffic along Beamishburn Road.  
Following a survey, the volume of traffic was 700 vehicles per day which was 
light traffic.  Although there was no footpath, pedestrians and cyclists had 
used this road safely with no accidents being recorded.  There were slow 
road markings to encourage the reduction in speed.  There was adequate 
visibility from the domestic access that was outside of the bend in the road.  
There were no issues from Highways Officers regarding access to or from 
the site.   
 
The Chair thanked Mr Kennedy and asked the Committee for their comments 
and questions. 
 
Councillor O Milburn expressed concern about when the traffic survey was 
carried out as she was familiar with the road and felt it was a very busy and 
fast road contrary to the results of the survey.   
 
The Principal DM Engineer informed the Committee that the traffic survey 
took place in 2008. The results of this survey had been used as it was felt 
that the volume of traffic would not have changed in that time span.  
Highways Officers felt there were no safety concerns as horses, pedestrians 
and cyclists used this road regularly.  Another survey could be instigated but 
this would not change the views from Highways Officers. 
 
Councillor T Tucker was concerned that the bat risk assessment was 
outdated having been done in 2018.  The Principal Planning Officer informed 
the Committee that the bat survey was valid for another year. Councillor T 
Tucker was concerned with the lack of footpaths in the vicinity and asked 
whether a condition could be placed on the application to install one.   
 
The Principal DM Engineer informed the Committee that the Council had 
investigated the feasibility of installing a footpath but there was no space.  
There was a footpath near to Blue Bell pub carpark giving no reason for 
pedestrians not to use it as they already walked in the road with no risk.  
 
Councillor A Hopgood was surprised that the Committee was being asked to 
decide an application which used an out of date traffic survey.  She stated 
that there had been an increase in traffic as this road was used by visitors to 
Beamish Museum and Beamish Hall. 
 

Page 7



Councillor O Milburn re-iterated that the Black Horse Pub had become a 
major wedding venue along with car garages in the area that would have 
caused an increase in the volume of cars on the road.  
 
Councillor A Bell suggested that a new traffic survey could be carried out to 
determine the number of vehicles that used the road.  Councillor D Boyes 
shared the concerns around the outdated traffic survey.  He was also 
concerned about the difference in views from the Landscape Officer and 
Tree Officer.  
 
The Solicitor explained to the Committee that the application should be 
deliberated as it stood as it was unreasonable to raise concerns that were 
not presented at the previous meeting.   
 
Councillor A Hopgood stated that Committee members had not been made 
aware of how old the survey had been at the previous meeting.  The 
Principal DM Engineer considered that although the information appeared to 
be out of date the results were still relevant.  There were no reported 
accidents and no evidence to suggest the area would be unsafe. 
 
Councillor T Tucker expressed concern at the discrepancies between the 
Tree Officer and Landscape Officer.  The Principal Planning Officer informed 
the Committee that the Tree Officer would consider the health, quality and 
longevity of individual trees including their protection via Tree protection 
orders (TPO).  The Landscape Officer would consider the trees and planting 
overall and their visible impact on the landscape.  There were no TPO’s on 
the trees within the development and could be removed at any time should 
the applicant choose. 
 
Councillor A Bell proposed that the application be deferred until further clarity 
was gained regarding the views of the tree and landscape officers and an 
updated traffic survey was carried out.  Councillor I Jewell seconded the 
proposal.  
 
Upon a vote it was unanimously;  
 
Resolved 
That the application be DEFERRED pending an updated speed survey and 
further clarification from the specialists regarding the trees. 
 

6 Appeal Update  
 

The Committee considered a report of the Principal Planning Officer, Fiona 
Clarke which provided details of a recent appeal.   
 

Page 8



An appeal was submitted against the refusal under delegated powers for an 
application for the erection of two stables with tack rooms with forecourt, 
dolomite gravel parking area, creation of new vehicular access and closure 
and re-instatement of existing access and change of use of land to 
equestrian purpose at Ebchester Hill, Ebchester.  This would be dealt with 
under the written representation procedure and Members would be updated 
on the decision at a future meeting. 
 
Resolved 
That the report was noted. 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

APPLICATION NO: 
DM/17/02333/OUT 

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: 

Outline planning application with all matters reserved 
(except access) for up to 105 dwellings including 
associated infrastructure and open space provision 
(amended description 04/12/2018) 

NAME OF APPLICANT: 
Chan Commercial Limited And Gleeson Regeneration 
Limited 

ADDRESS: 
Land to the north east Of Castledene Road, Delves 
Lane 

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Delves Lane 

CASE OFFICER: 

Laura Eden 
Senior Planning Officer  
03000 263980 
laura.eden@durham.gov.uk    

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS 

 
The Site  
 
1. The application site is located off Gloucester Road on land between Sixth Street and 

Castledene Road which is in the south eastern part of Consett. The site is roughly 
rectangular in shape and comprises 3.34ha of grassland used informally as open space. 
With regards to topography, the site slopes away from the north west to the south east 
and there is around 19m between the site’s highest and lowest points. Trees and 
hedgerows are restricted to the site’s boundaries. 

 
2. Residential properties within Castledene Road and West Ellimore View bound the site 

to the south/south-west and partially lie along its northern border. To the west lies 
Gloucester Road with a commercial development and garage court located beyond.  A 
public right of way (Footpath No.38 (Consett)) runs alongside but outside the site’s 
eastern boundary with agricultural fields beyond and to the north east.  Immediately to 
the north lies Sixth Street containing terraced bungalows and an agricultural field. 
Further to the north east lies a park and recreation ground comprising of junior and 
youth play facilities and football pitch.  

 
3. The site is located 1.7km to the north east of Knitsley and High House Wood Local 

Wildlife Site and 3.2km from Allensford Woods Local Nature Reserve. Iveston 
Conservation Area lies 1.6km to the east and contains Grade II listed War Memorial, 
cottage and outbuilding. There are no landscape designations within or adjacent to the 
site. The application site contains no watercourses, with the site lying entirely within 
Flood Zone 1.  

 
  

Page 11

Agenda Item 5a

mailto:laura.eden@durham.gov.uk


The Proposal  
 
4. The application seeks outline planning permission, with all matters reserved except for 

access, for the erection of up to 105 dwellings (revised from an originally proposed 142).  
 

5. Access into the site would be taken off Gloucester Road, which runs adjacent to the 
site’s western boundary, via a simple priority junction arrangement. This would require 
the relocation of an existing bus stop.  
 

6. The application is accompanied by an indicative site plan for 105 units. Being an outline 
application there is no defined mix at this stage, however, the indicative plan suggests 
a mixture of 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed detached and semi-detached properties. The plan 
indicates that amenity open space would be provided around the entrance to the estate, 
within a central green space and towards the eastern end of the development. A 
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) is proposed to the eastern part of the site which is 
the natural low point of the application site. The plans also indicate that buffer planting 
is proposed along to the northern boundary edge and to supplement the existing 
planting to the east. 
 

7. The application is being reported to the North Area Planning Committee as it constitutes 
a major residential development proposal on a site less than 4ha and comprising of less 
than 200 dwellings. 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
8. There is no relevant planning history for this site. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

NATIONAL POLICY  

 

9. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in July 2018 (with 
updates since). The overriding message continues to be that new development that is 
sustainable should go ahead without delay. It defines the role of planning in achieving 
sustainable development under three overarching objectives – economic, social and 
environmental, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive 
ways. 

 
10. In accordance with Paragraph 213 of the National Planning Policy Framework, existing 

policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or 
made prior to the publication of this Framework.  Due weight should be given to them, 
according to their degree of consistency with the Framework (the closer the policies in 
the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  
The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment section 
of the report. The following elements of the NPPF are considered relevant to this 
proposal. 

 
11. NPPF Part 2 - Achieving Sustainable Development. The purpose of the planning system 

is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore at the 
heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It defines the 
role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three overarching 
objectives - economic, social and environmental, which are interdependent and need to 
be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development for plan-making and decision-taking is outlined. 

Page 12



 
12. NPPF Part 4 - Decision-making. Local planning authorities should approach decisions 

on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range 
of planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, 
and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every 
level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.  

 
13. NPPF Part 5 - Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes. To support the Government's 

objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient 
amount and variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of 
groups with specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission 
is developed without unnecessary delay. 

 
14. NPPF Part 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy. The Government is committed 

to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the 
country's inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition 
and a low carbon future. 

 
15. NPPF Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities.  The planning system can play 

an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. Developments should be safe and accessible; Local Planning Authorities 
should plan positively for the provision and use of shared space and community 
facilities. An integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses 
and services should be adopted. 

 
16. NPPF Part 9 – Promoting sustainable transport. Encouragement should be given to 

solutions which support reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and reduce 
congestion.  Developments that generate significant movement should be located 
where the need to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes 
maximised. 

 
17. NPPF Part 11 – Making effective use of land.  Planning policies and decisions should 

promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living 
conditions. Strategic policies should set out a clear strategy for accommodating 
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes as much use as possible of previously-
developed or 'brownfield' land. 

 
18. NPPF Part 12 – Achieving well-designed places The Government attaches great 

importance to the design of the built environment, with good design a key aspect of 
sustainable development, indivisible from good planning. 

 
19. NPPF Part 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

- The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and 
low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. 

 
20. NPPF Part 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment - Conserving and 

enhancing the natural environment.  The Planning System should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of 
ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing 

Page 13



development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and 
land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate. 

 
21. NPPF Part 16 - Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment - Heritage assets 

range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance, 
such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be of Outstanding 
Universal Value. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved 
in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their 
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework  

 
22. The Government has consolidated a number of planning practice guidance notes, 

circulars and other guidance documents into a single Planning Practice Guidance Suite.  
This document provides planning guidance on a wide range of matters. Of particular 
relevance to this application is the practice guidance with regards to; air quality; 
conserving and enhancing the historic environment; design; determining a planning 
application; flood risk; health and well-being; land stability; housing and economic 
development needs assessments; housing and economic land availability assessment; 
light pollution; natural environment; noise; open space, sports and recreation facilities, 
public rights of way and local green space; planning obligations; travel plans, transport 
assessments and statements; use of planning conditions and; water supply, wastewater 
and water quality. 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  

 
LOCAL PLAN POLICY:  
 
Derwentside District Local Plan (1997) (DDLP) 
 
23. Policy GDP1 – General Development Principles. Outlines the requirements that new 

development proposals should meet, requiring high standards of design, protection of 
landscape and historic features, protection of open land with amenity value, respecting 
residential privacy and amenity, taking into account ‘designing out crime’ and 
consideration of drainage. 
 

24. Policy EN1 – Development in the Countryside. Development will only be permitted 
where it benefits the rural economy / helps maintain / enhance landscape character. 
Proposals should be sensitively related to existing settlement patterns and to historic, 
landscape, wildlife and geological resources. 
 

25. Policy EN2 – Preventing Urban Sprawl. Except where specific provision has been made 
in the Plan development outside existing built-up areas will not be permitted if it results 
in: the merging of neighbouring settlements, ribbon development, or encroachment into 
the surrounding countryside. 
 

26. Policy EN11 – Trees and Development. States that throughout the district existing trees 
should be retained where possible. Consideration will be given to the effect of 
development on any affected trees, taking into account; landscape diversity, the setting 
of existing or proposed buildings, wildlife habitat and visual amenity. 
 

27. Policy EN19 - Protection of Sites and Settings of Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Features. Seeks to protect such heritage assets by precluding 
development that would damage them. Pre-application evaluation or an archaeological 
assessment should be carried out, and where present such assets should be either 
preserved in situ or investigated and recorded. 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


 
28. Policy EN22 – Protection of Sites of Nature Conservation Importance. Sets out that 

development will only be permitted which would not lead to the loss of or cause 
significant harm to sites of nature conservation importance.  

 
29. Policy EN25 – Development Affected by Pollution. States that residential or other 

sensitive development will not be permitted on sites affected by unacceptable levels of 
pollution from adjoining land uses. 
 

30. Policy EN26 - Control of Development Causing Pollution – Permission will only be 
granted for development which is not likely to have an adverse impact on the 
environment having regard to likely levels of air, noise, soil or water pollution. 

 
31. Policy HO5 - Housing Development on Small Sites. Lists settlements where housing 

development will be permitted on small sites. Development must be appropriate to the 
existing pattern and form of development; must not extend beyond the existing built up 
area; represents acceptable backland or tandem development; and should not exceed 
0.4 hectares when taken together with an adjoining site. 

 
32. Policy HO22 – Recreational Public Open Space within Housing Layouts. States 

planning permission for new housing developments will be granted if they include 
sufficient open space and play areas to meet the demands of the residents of the 
development. 

 
33. Policy AG1 - Protection Of Better Quality Agricultural Land.  Development of Grade 2 of 

3a agricultural quality will only be permitted provided there is no irreversible loss of 
agricultural land or no other sites of lower grade land exists where the development 
could reasonably be sited. 
 

34. Policy RE4 - Protection of Public Footpaths. Development should facilitate the 
incorporation rather than the diversion of public rights of way and other recreational 
footpaths. 

 
35. Policy TR2 – Development and Highway Safety. Relates to the provision of safe 

vehicular access/exit, adequate provision for service vehicle manoeuvring, access for 
emergency vehicles and access to the public transport network. 

 
36. Policy TR3 – Cycling. Requires cyclists’ needs to be taken into account when 

considering proposals for new traffic management, road improvements and new 
developments. Permission will only be granted if safe and convenient access and cycle 
parking facilities such as racks or wall bars are provided. 
 

EMERGING PLAN: 
  
The County Durham Plan 
 
37. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision-takers may give weight to relevant 

policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of the emerging plan; the extent to 
which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; and, the degree of 
consistency of the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF. Following 
consultation at ‘Issues & Options’, ‘Preferred Options’ and ‘Pre-Submission Draft’ 
stages, the CDP was approved for submission by the Council on 19 June 2019. The 
CDP was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 27 June 2019. A timetable for the 
Examination in Public (EiP) of the CDP has been devised with the Hearings set to 
commence in October 2019. Although the CDP is now at a relatively advanced stage of 

Page 15



preparation, it is considered that it is not sufficiently advanced to be afforded any weight 
in the decision-making process at the present time. 

 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
STATUTORY RESPONSES: 
 
38. Highway Authority – The Transport Assessment shows that the proposed development 

will not result in severe residual cumulative impacts on the operation of the current and 
proposed highway network subject to a condition to secure junction improvements to 
the mini roundabout at Delves Lane/Gloucester Road. The site access arrangements 
are considered to be acceptable in principle however a condition is required to secure 
the full engineering details, including the slight relocation of an existing bus stop and its 
full implementation on site. 

 
39. Drainage and Coastal Protection – No objections on the basis providing a condition is 

imposed to ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the submitted 
flood risk assessment, drainage strategy and drainage plan. 

 
40. Coal Authority – No objections as the content and conclusions within the Phase 2 Site 

Investigation are sufficient to demonstrate that the application site is safe and stable for 
the proposed development.  

 
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
41. Spatial Policy – DDLP Policies EN1 and EN2 seek to protect the countryside from 

inappropriate development and preventing urban sprawl. The site has also been 
assessed through the SHLAA and was deemed unsuitable (amber) on account it would 
be poorly related to the settlement and would encroach into the countryside. The 
application should be subject to the planning balance exercise outlined in Paragraph 
11d of the NPPF. Whilst recognising there are some benefits associated with the 
scheme, the potential impacts to the countryside will be a key consideration in the 
planning balance exercise. 

 
42. Archaeology – The geophysical survey notes archaeological potential on the site and 

recommends trial trenching evaluation. A Written Scheme of Investigation for a 
programme of archaeological evaluation has been agreed. The work should be carried 
out accordingly and the results submitted prior to determination.    

 
43. Design and Conservation – No objections are raised in relation to heritage impacts. The 

scheme has altered relatively significantly since its original assessment by the Internal 
Design Review panel most notably through the reduction in the number of units now 
proposed. The indicative layout suggests areas of open/landscaping space to be 
provided and that it would sit more comfortably with adjacent development. The main 
road through the site still appears long and convoluted although this is likely due to site 
constraints. Moving forward corner turning plots should be considered, units which 
inspire a distinctive sense of place and creating linkages to surrounding area.  

 
44. Ecology – Raise no objection subject to securing a financial contribution and the 

imposition of conditions. Biodiversity offsetting is required to ensure there is no net loss 
to biodiversity. Therefore, a contribution of £11,000 is required to be used by the Council 
towards biodiversity enhancements in accordance with the framework identified in 
Durham County Council’s Local Biodiversity Compensation Strategy document. 
Conditions relating to the adherence to the recommendations outlined within the 
ecology report, a detailed landscaping scheme and maintenance regime to be agreed.   

Page 16



 
45. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Air Quality) – No objection subject to 

conditions to secure a dust action management plan and travel plan. 
 
46. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Pollution Control) – No objection. 
 
47. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Contaminated Land) – The submitted 

reports are sufficient to identify the risk associated with contaminated land and ground 
gas on the proposed end user. No condition is required, however, it is recommended 
that an informative relating to unforeseen contamination is added. 

 
48. Housing Delivery - Advise the area has a need for more 2 bedroomed affordable 

properties to rent and 3 bedroomed affordable home ownership. There is an average 
demand for bungalow accommodation in comparison to the neighbouring area. A 
quarter of those actively seeking affordable rented properties are aged over 65, 
therefore provision should be made which meets the demands of older persons. It is 
advised that affordable housing should be dispersed throughout the development to 
avoid a concentration in one area of the development. This should be in small clusters 
of housing rather than single units pepper potted through the development. Information 
will need to be provided on the open market value of all affordable properties for the 
price to be discounted to an affordable level. Further discussion with the team would be 
welcomed. 

 
49. Landscape – There are no formal landscape related designations on the site. However, 

the field that defines the site is within a DCC Landscape Improvement Area where the 
adopted spatial policy is to Restore & Enhance. The development would be in conflict 
with DDLP Policies GDP1, EN1 and EN2. Sensitive landscape detailing could help 
mitigate against the effect of the proposed development but only to a minor degree. 
Notwithstanding these concerns, the more recent amendments to the layout including 
a lower housing density and a central ‘Green’ were regarded as positive. 

 
50. Landscape (Arboriculture) The trees and hedges that are to remain should be 

adequately protected prior to development. The protection measures outlined in Section 
3.3 of the report are considered to be acceptable and should be secured by condition.  

 
51. Public Rights of Way – Public Byway no.38 (Consett) abuts and may pass within the 

south east site boundary however appears largely unaffected by the proposal. There 
are also a number of unregistered paths / desire lines which cross the site which may 
have accrued public rights. The most obvious one which runs through the site (on a 
north/south axis) appears to be broadly retained within the indicative layout.  

 
52. School Places Manager – It is considered that the development is likely to produce 32 

primary pupils and 13 secondary pupils. There is insufficient capacity at both the local 
primary and secondary schools to accommodate this need. Consequently, a 
contribution of 685,698, comprising of a primary (32 x £14,703 = £470,496) and 
secondary (13 x £16,554 = £215,202) contribution element, would be required for the 
provision of additional teaching accommodation. 

 
53. Sustainability – The site has good access to services and facilities. The Council expects 

this scheme to improve upon Part L 2013. The applicant will also be aware that it is a 
requirement of Part L Regulation 25A that consideration of high efficiency alternative 
systems for new buildings must be considered. This should be secured by condition.  

 
54. Sustainable Travel – Raises no objection subject to the imposition of a travel plan 

condition. Advised that the scheme is well served by buses and that the adjacent byway 
38 should be retained and enhanced as part of the development. 

Page 17



 
EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 
55. North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group – Based on a standard approach to 

costing the impact of additional housing growth a financial contribution of £50,715 would 
be sought to make the proposed housing expansion supportable from a health 
infrastructure perspective.  
 

56. Highways England – Offer no objection. 
 

57. Police Architectural Liaison Officer – The crime risk assessment for this proposed 
development is low. Detailed advice has been provided on the original indicative layout 
plan which has since been superseded.  

 
58. Northumbrian Water Limited – Raise no objection, subject to the development being 

carried out in accordance with the submitted ‘sketch drainage plan’. 
 
 PUBLIC RESPONSES: 

 
59. The application has been advertised by way of a press and site notice, and individual 

notification letters to neighbouring residents. 14 letters from eleven neighbouring 
properties have been received objecting to the development.  

 
60. The main concerns raised by objectors are summarised as: 
 

 Lack of amenities, facilities and employment opportunities to accommodate the 
development including insufficient school places in the area and concerns about 
whether there is capacity at the local doctor’s surgery 

 Highway safety concerns surrounding the adequacy of the access especially as 
only a single point entry is proposed, the impact of additional traffic on the capacity 
of the surrounding highway network and whether sufficient car parking will be 
provided  

 Impact on amenity through increased noise and disturbance especially during the 
construction phase, overbearing impact, overlooking, light pollution, loss of outlook 
and attractive views 

 Impact on the character and appearance of the area through development of a 
greenfield site which local residents consider buffers the land between Crookhall 
and Delves Lane 

 Ecological impact and loss of biodiversity 

 Impact on drainage and flooding including concerns regarding the inclusion of 
SuDS system 

 Overdevelopment of the site, the need for additional housing in this area and that 
brownfield sites should be prioritized 

 Site stability due to former coal mining workings 

 Initial ground works and surveys have unsettled rodents within the site 

 Property devaluation 

 The site was marketed by DCC as grazing land and planning advice was that it 
was not suitable for redevelopment. There are covenants on the land to this effect.  

 Concerns regarding the accuracy of the submission 

 Concerns that the developer has been allowed to amend their proposal and that 
determination of the application has been delayed significantly as a result.  

 
61. A response has been received from Cllr Brown outlining that both herself and Cllr Clarke 

are absolutely opposed to the development. 
 

Page 18



The above is not intended to repeat every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this 
application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at: 

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage  

 
APPLICANTS STATEMENT:  
 
62. The Site provides a sustainable development opportunity and would contribute to the 

provision of a mix of housing size, types and affordability in the area, particularly 
promoting family housing and appropriate dwellings which allow people to stay in their 
local community. The site provides ready access to local amenities, schools and 
employment sites and is considered sustainable. The development of this site for 
residential development would see significant regeneration of a vacant site.  
 

63. This planning application has considered all relevant planning policy matters in respect 
of the proposal bringing forward residential development. At a national, regional and 
local planning policy level, there remains a priority for development in urban areas to 
which this site would accord. The site lies within a residential area in close proximity to 
services and facilities including access to sustainable travel options including bus 
services. The scheme will provide for off-site contributions towards Education, Health, 
Ecology and Open Space, as well as providing some highway improvements and 
affordable home ownership dwellings. The proposal will integrate well into the locality 
through the design proposals and density accords with National Planning Policy. 
 

64. All criteria required to be complied with in Policy requirements have been taken into 
account through the evolution of the scheme, resulting in a well-designed proposal that 
responds to the specifics of the site, both in terms of layout but also the design of the 
elevational treatment. It must also be noted that the proposals aim to deliver quality new 
homes to local people in addition to providing much needed new housing in this location. 
The applicants have undertaken considerable dialogue with architects, local residents, 
consultants and relevant officers at the Council to ensure that the scheme not only 
delivers high quality design, but also responds to the aspirations of the local community. 
Indeed, the proposals have been amended several times during the planning 
submission, to take into account the comments made. 
 

65. Development of this site will bring a number of benefits to Consett/Delves Lane including 
a total investment of £8.9M, approx. £150k of additional Council Tax per annum and 
New Homes bonus payment to the Council of around £550k over a 4 year period. The 
scheme will also provide approx. 110 sustained or created ‘direct’ jobs/apprenticeships 
and 215 sustained or created ‘indirect’ jobs/apprenticeships to local people, as well as 
safeguarding many current jobs. 
 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 

 
66. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that if regard 

is to be had to the development plan, decisions should be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In accordance with 
advice within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the policies contained 
therein are material considerations that should be taken into account in decision making. 
Other material considerations include representations received. In this context, it is 
considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to: the principle of the 
development, locational sustainability of the site, highway safety and access, landscape 
and visual appraisal,  layout and design, residential amenity/pollution, ecology, flooding 
and drainage, heritage and archaeology infrastructure and public open space, 
affordable and accessible/adapted housing, planning obligations and other matters. 

 
  

Page 19

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


The Principle of the Development   
 
67. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning consideration. The Derwentside District 
Local (DDLP) remains the statutory development plan and the starting point for 
determining applications as set out at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF.  
 

68. The DDLP was adopted in 1997 and was intended to cover the period to 2006. However, 
NPPF Paragraph 213 advises that Local Plan policies should not be considered out-of-
date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF. 
Notwithstanding this, it is considered that a policy can be out-of-date if it is based upon 
evidence which is not up-to-date/is time expired depending on the circumstances. 
Paragraph 213 also sets out that due weight should be given to existing policies, 
according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in 
the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

 
69. DDLP Policy EN1 sets out that development within the countryside will only be permitted 

where it benefits the rural economy or helps to maintain or enhance landscape character 
setting out that proposals should be sensitively related to the existing settlement pattern. 
DDLP Policy EN2 sets out that except where specific provision has been made in the 
DDLP, development outside existing built up areas will not be permitted where it results 
in the merging or coalescence of settlements, ribbon development or an encroachment 
into the surrounding countryside. It is considered that the principle of protecting the 
countryside and the provision of a framework on how to assess development proposals 
in such locations is consistent with the NPPF. However, it is considered that the 
definition of the countryside is based on the development needs of the time and is, 
therefore, time limited. By reason of the out of date evidence base which informs, 
policies EN1 and EN2 they are considered out of date. The development would conflict 
with polices EN1 and EN2 of the DDLP representing an encroachment of development 
into the countryside and beyond the existing built up area.  
 

70. In addition to the above policies, Policy GD1 of the DDLP sets overarching principles 
that all development should comply with, including locational characteristics to ensure 
that development relates well to existing settlement patterns and is located to reduce 
the need for additional car journeys. Policy GD1 is considered consistent with the NPPF 
in this respect and up to date, as it is not based on time-limited information.  

 
71. Saved DDLP Policy H05 specifically relates to development of small housing sites (less 

than 0.4ha) and is not, therefore, applicable to this application.  
 
72. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development.  For decision taking this means:- 
 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan 
without delay; or 

 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: 

 
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or,  

 

Page 20



ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole. 

 
73. As set out above it is considered that there are saved policies within the DDLP which 

provide a framework to assess the principle of the development, to which the 
development would conflict with. For the purposes of Paragraph 11(d), Policies EN1 
and EN2 are considered policies most important for determining the application. 
However, these policies are considered to be out of date and, therefore, the 
acceptability of the development must be considered in the context of Paragraph 11(d) 
of the NPPF, as above. However, although out of date, these policies are consistent 
with the NPPF and weight can still be afforded to them. This is discussed in more detail 
later in this report.  
 

74. The acceptability of the proposed development rests on whether any adverse impacts 
of approving the development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits or whether there are any specific policies in the NPPF that indicate 
development should be restricted. Clearly, this former assessment can only be 
considered following an examination of all of the issues within the planning balance. 

 
Housing Land Supply 
 
75. Paragraph 73 of the NPPF maintains the requirement for Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs) to identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to 
provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement set 
out in adopted strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic 
policies are more than five years old.  
 

76. Within County Durham all the extant development plans are more than five years old 
and their housing figures need revising so the starting point for calculating land supply 
will be local housing need using the Government’s standard methodology. The ‘Pre 
Submission Draft’ County Durham Plan (CDP) was subject to consultation in January 
2019 and was submitted for Examination in June 2019. The CDP sets out that housing 
need in County Durham is based on the minimum assessment of Local Housing Need 
adjusted for recent past delivery. The housing need for County Durham is, therefore, 
1,308 dwellings per annum (dpa). At this time, the Council is able to demonstrate 6.37 
years supply of deliverable housing land against this figure. The Council also has 
commitments of an additional supply beyond the deliverable 5-year supply period.  

 
77. In a written representations appeal involving a site in Esh Winning, the Inspector took 

the view that housing supply had not been demonstrated by the Council in the terms of 
paragraph 74 of the NPPF. However, the Planning Inspectorate have subsequently 
confirmed that the Inspector misapplied Paragraph 74, as it was impossible for the 
Council to have an Annual Position Statement in place at the time of the appeal. In 
addition, in three further, more recent, written representation appeals, the Inspector 
outlined that there are also the requirements of Paragraph 73 under which councils are 
required to identify annually a supply of housing sites to provide a minimum of 5YHLS, 
set against local housing needs where strategic policies are more than 5 years old. The 
Council’s approach to demonstrating a 5YHLS is, therefore, considered to be 
appropriate in the circumstances, and in line with the requirements of the NPPF.  

 
78. The Government has also recently published its Housing Delivery Test (HDT) results 

alongside the publication of the update NPPF in February 2019. The HDT outcome for 
the Council indicates that housing delivery has been above the requirement over the 
last three years, which is evidence that delivery of housing on the ground is on track 
and exceeding our housing targets.  

Page 21



 
79. To summarise, the Council’s position is that, in line with Paragraph 60 of NPPF and 

national planning guidance, the housing need in County Durham and, as set out in the 
emerging CDP, is 1,308 dpa and a supply of 6.37 years of deliverable housing can be 
demonstrated. Accordingly, the weight to be afforded to the boost to housing supply as 
a benefit of the development is clearly less than in instances where such a healthy land 
supply position could not be demonstrated. 

 
Locational Sustainability of the Site 
 
80. DDLP Policy GDP1 amongst its advice states that the form of development should be 

appropriate to the sites location and located to conserve energy. The justification to the 
policy states that development should be carefully located to reduce the need for 
additional car journeys and should be easily accessible and capable of being served by 
public transport. DDLP Policy TR2 requires that development proposals would have 
satisfactory access to the public transport network. DDLP Policy TR3 requires that the 
needs of cyclists are taken into account as part of new developments and Policy RE4 
seeks the protection of public footpaths. These policies are considered consistent with 
the NPPF, which also seeks to promote accessibility by a range of methods, and 
accordingly, they can be given full weight in considering the application. Specifically, 
the NPPF at Paragraph 103, sets out that the planning system should actively manage 
patterns of growth including, to promote walking, cycling and public transport use. 
Significant development should be focused in locations which are, or can be made, 
sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport 
town centre modes. Further to this, Paragraph 110 of the NPPF sets out that 
applications for development should give priority to pedestrian and cycle movements 
and facilitate access to high quality public transport. Decisions should address the 
connections between people and places and the integration of new development into 
the natural and built environment.  
 

81. The County Durham Settlement Study 2018 is an evidence-based document which 
seeks to provide an understanding of the number and range of services available within 
the settlements of County Durham. The site lies between Crookhall and Delves Lane 
which form part of the Consett Cluster comprising of twelve named areas. Although 
historically settlements in their own right, they all effectively function as part of Consett. 
The Consett Cluster is ranked 3rd within the County based on the services and facility 
within the area and is, therefore, considered capable of accommodating appropriate 
housing growth.  

 
82. In relation to distances to services and amenities, the site lies within approximately 

0.85km of the Consett town centre boundary which contains an array of amenities and 
services including shopping and leisure facilities. The site is within 0.56km of Delves 
Lane Primary School, 0.6km of two large retail/foodstores, 0.9km of Consett Medical 
Centre and 1.6km of Consett Academy (secondary school). In terms of distances to 
services and amenities, these are generally considered acceptable as set out in the 
Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation (CIHT) documents including 
‘Guidelines for Providing for Journeys on Foot’ and ‘Planning for Walking’, The 
Department for Transports ‘Manual for Streets’, along with work undertaken by 
independent consultants. In general, a walking distance of 1650-2000m or a 20-minute 
walk is considered at the upper end of what future residents could be expected to walk, 
taking into account topography and desirability of routes. The walking routes into 
Consett town centre and the facilities and services within the surrounding area are also 
on adopted well-lit highways with no significant topographical restrictions. In terms of 
cycle access, the site performs well, with services in the town centre within a short cycle 
ride. 
 

Page 22



83. Bus stops lie within close proximity of the site on Gloucester Road or alternatively on 
either Iveston or Castledene Road. All areas of the site would therefore lie within the 
recommended 400m walking distance criteria to bus stops. The services that operates 
from these stops include an hourly Monday to Sunday daytime service to Durham and 
regular local services to Consett. 

 
84. Whilst a Travel Plan (TP) has been submitted in support of the application it does not 

currently meet the required DCC standards. Conditions would therefore be required to 
secure a suitable TP and its implementation thereafter. 

 
85. Paragraph 98 of the NPPF outlines that decisions should protect and enhance public 

rights of way and access including taking opportunities to provide better facilities for 
users. Policy RE4 of the DDLP sets out that development which would directly affect a 
Public Right of Way or other recognised recreational path will only be permitted if an 
acceptable and equivalent alternative route is provided. In this regard there are no 
registered public rights of way within the red line site boundary although a public right 
of way (Footpath No.38 (Consett)) runs alongside but outside the site’s eastern 
boundary. Whilst this should not be directly affected by the development given its 
proximity it is anticipated there would be an increase in footfall. There also a number of 
unregistered paths / desire lines which cross the site which may have accrued public 
rights. The most obvious one which runs through the site (n/s) appears to be broadly 
retained within the indicative layout. The Sustainable Transport team advise the Byway 
should be retained and enhanced as part of the development and the Council’s Public 
Rights of Way Officer has raised no objection to the scheme. As the Byway lies outside 
the application site, it will be retained and not detrimentally impacted upon and no 
enhancement measures are considered necessary. 

 
86. Overall, it is considered that the site has access to a large array of services and facilities, 

to serve the development proposed and that these are within relatively easy reach of 
the site. Walking distances and established bus services would give future residents 
alternative options to the private motor car to access services. No objections are 
therefore raised having regards to the locational sustainability of the site.  

 
87. In conclusion, the development would promote accessibility by a range of methods in 

accordance with policies GDP1 and TR2 of the DDLP and Paragraphs 103 and 110 of 
the NPPF. 

 
Highway Safety and Access 

 

88. DDLP Policy TR2 sets out that planning permission for development will only be granted 
where the scheme incorporates a clearly defined and safe vehicle access and exit, 
satisfactory access onto the public transport network and satisfactory access onto the 
adopted highway. The supporting text of policy TR2 also sets out that a proposal will 
not be granted unless adequate traffic flows can be maintained. Policy TR2 is 
considered consistent with the NPPF, which also seeks to ensure that a safe and 
suitable access can be achieved and, therefore, it can be given full weight in considering 
the application. The NPPF, at Paragraphs 108 and 109, also sets out that when 
considering development proposals, it should be ensured any significant impacts from 
the development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), can be 
cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. Development should only be 
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 
on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.  
 

89. Paragraph 111 sets out that all developments that would generate significant amounts 
of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be 

Page 23



supported by a transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts 
of the proposal can be assessed. In this respect, the application is accompanied by a 
Transport Assessment (TA) and a Travel Plan (TP). Collectively the submitted 
documentation considers the potential impacts of the development and the adequacy 
of the site for the development with respect to a range of highways and transport related 
issues. 

 
90. A new access would be taken from Gloucester Road via a simple priority junction 

arrangement. To facilitate the access an existing bus stop would be required to be 
relocated. Following amendments to site layout plan, the Highways Authority agree a 
suitable means of access can be achieved subject to the imposition of a condition to 
secure full engineering details of the junction and bus stop infrastructure. Further 
consideration of the internal road layout and parking provision would be undertaken in 
any subsequent reserved matters application.  

 
91. In relation to the impact on the wider highway network, the Highway Authority advise 

that the assumptions and subsequent conclusions of the submitted Transport 
Assessment are now accepted. Offsite improvement works are required to the 
roundabout at the Gloucester Rd/Delves Lane junction that would need to be 
implemented before the 50th dwelling is occupied. This would be secured via condition.  

 
92. Whilst a Travel Plan (TP) has been submitted in support of the application it does not 

currently meet the required DCC standards. As previously advised, conditions would 
therefore be required to secure a suitable TP and its implementation thereafter. 

 
93. Overall, the highways impacts of the proposed development are considered to be 

acceptable, subject to the imposition of conditions, in accordance with DDLP Policy TR2 
and Part 9 of the NPPF. 

 
Landscape and Visual Appraisal 
 

94. As set out above DDLP Policy EN1 seeks to prevent encroachment of development into 
the open countryside, except where it benefits the rural economy or helps to maintain 
or enhance landscape character, setting out that proposals should be sensitively related 
to the existing settlement pattern. DDLP Policy EN2 sets out that development outside 
the existing built up area will not be permitted where it results in the merging or 
coalescence of settlements, ribbon development or an encroachment into the 
surrounding countryside. It is considered that the principle of protecting the countryside 
and the provision of a framework on how to assess development proposals in such 
locations is consistent with the NPPF. Whilst Policies EN1 and EN2 are considered out 
of date for the reasons outlined earlier in this report, they can still both be attributed 
significant weight in the decision-making process due to their content having significant 
resonance with the content of the NPPF and therefore consistent on this basis. Policy 
GDP1 also sets out that general development principles including, that development 
proposals should be well related to the existing environment and take account of the 
presence of natural features, requiring the protection of the existing landscape. This 
policy is considered consistent with the NPPF. Paragraph 170 (b) also recognises the 
intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside whilst paragraph 127 (c) requires that 
development is sympathetic to its landscape setting. The key policy considerations 
therefore are whether the site reads as an appropriate natural extension to the 
settlement or appears as an incursion into the open countryside and whether it 
represents good design.  
 

95. The application site has been assessed within the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA). The site (ref: 1/CO/35) has an unsuitable (amber) classification 
on account that the site is poorly related to the built-up edge of the settlement, would 

Page 24



represent uncontrolled sprawl into the open countryside, and developing the site would 
result in some adverse residual landscape and visual impact even following mitigation.  

 
96. The site does not lie within a nationally designated landscape. It is identified within the 

adopted Durham County Council Landscape Strategy as a Landscape Improvement 
Area, where the landscape spatial strategy is to Restore and Enhance. The site is 
roughly rectangular in shape and comprises of grassland used informally as open 
space. The site slopes away from the north west to the south east and there is around 
19m between the site’s highest and lowest points. Trees and hedgerows are restricted 
to the site’s boundaries. The application is accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 
Appraisal which provides a broad overview of the surrounding site context, the potential 
landscape and visual effects which may arise as a result of the development and 
possible mitigation measures to address the potential effects. 

 
97. The site forms one of two fields which forms a wedge between Sixth Street (Crookhall) 

and Castledene Road (Delves Lane). The development of the site for housing would 
have a transformative and adverse impact on the immediate local landscape character 
appreciated most in views of the immediate locality (Gloucester Road and properties off 
Castledene Road and Sixth Street) typical of any development of a greenfield site. 
There is significant built development in the surrounding area therefore it is considered 
that additional housing would not look uncharacteristic in this context. Within wider 
views there will be limited intervisibility from the north and west due to the landform and 
existing landscaping. In other views, given the shape of the site it is considered that it 
would be seen as a narrow and modest extension to the settlement and seen against 
the backdrop of existing development. Although an encroachment into the countryside, 
development would not encroach outside the built envelope of Consett. It is considered 
that the development would be read as an extension to the existing urban form but not 
necessarily affecting the general character of the area to a substantial degree. 
Furthermore, a landscaping scheme can be secured via condition to help soften the 
edge treatment and enhance existing retained vegetation.  

 
98. The landscape officer’s assessment is that there would be some adverse landscape 

and visual impact, even with the proposed mitigation, in conflict with DDLP Policies 
GDP1, EN1 and EN2. This impact needs to be considered in the planning balance. 

 
99. The Council’s Tree Officer has assessed the accompanying arboricultural reports which 

as considered to be satisfactory and comply with the current British Standards. The 
trees to be retained can be protected throughout the construction period. This 
requirement can be secured by condition. 

 
Layout and Design  
 
100. DDLP Policy GDP1 (A) sets out that development proposals should achieve a high 

standard of design which is in keeping with the character and appearance for the area 
and take into account of the sites natural and built features. Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF 
also seek to promote good design, while protecting and enhancing local environments. 
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF also states that planning decisions should aim to ensure 
developments function well and add to the overall quality of the area and establish a 
strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive and 
comfortable places to live, work and visit. Due to its consistency with the NPPF, 
significant weight should be afforded to DDLP Policy GDP1 (A) in this respect.  

 
101. A Building for Life Supplementary Planning Document (2019) (BfL SPD) has recently 

been adopted. In recognition of national planning advice (outlined above) and to achieve 
high quality housing developments DCC has adopted an in-house review process to 
assess schemes against the Building for Life 12 (BfL 12) Standards. The BfL SPD 

Page 25



formalises the review process and establishes the guidelines and standards for its 
operation. It is linked to the Sustainable Design Policy (30) in the emerging County 
Durham Plan. 

 
102. The detail of the layout, appearance, scale and landscaping arrangements of the 

proposed development is not under consideration at this stage but an illustrative 
masterplan has been submitted in support of the application. This suggests a mixture 
of 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed detached and semi-detached properties. It also indicates that 
amenity open space would be provided around the entrance to the estate, within a 
central green space and towards the eastern end of the development.  

 
103. Design and Conservation Officers recognise that the scheme has altered relatively 

significantly since its original assessment by the Council’s Internal Design Review panel 
most notably through the reduction in the number of units proposed (142 to 105). This 
allows a more spacious layout which is more in character and keeping with the 
surrounding area and areas of open space to be included within the scheme. Should 
the development progress the positive characteristics of the local area in terms of 
character and architectural detailing should be considered as part of any detailed layout 
and open spaces should also benefit from natural surveillance.  

 
104. Overall, subject to the further and more detailed consideration, which a future reserved 

matters application would provide for, the development could achieve a standard of 
design that would meet the aims of Policy GD1 (A) and paragraphs 127 and 170 of the 
NPPF in this regard. 

 
Residential Amenity/Pollution 
 
105. DDLP Policy GDP1 requires development to protect the amenities of neighbouring 

occupiers and land users. DDLP Policy EN25 require that residential development will 
not be permitted on sites affected by unacceptable levels of pollution of adjoining land 
uses. DDLP Policy EN26 requires that developments protect the environment in terms 
of likely levels of air, noise, soil or water pollution. These policies are considered 
consistent with Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF, which require that a good standard of 
amenity for existing and future users be ensured, whilst seeking to prevent both new 
and existing development from contributing to, or being put at unacceptable risk from, 
unacceptable levels of pollution.  

 
106. Based on the indicative housing layout and relationship with existing properties, it is 

considered that a scheme could be devised that would protect the amenity of 
neighbouring land users and achieve acceptable separation distances between 
dwellings. There are topographical changes across the site, with the land falling 
approximately 19m in a south easterly direction and are therefore a consideration. The 
information in support of the application are considered sufficient to demonstrate that 
suitable arrangements can be achieved however a condition is suggested to agree the 
final site and finished floor levels. Further scrutiny of this matter and the internal site 
layout would be given at the reserved matters stage.  

 
107. Environment, Health and Consumer Protection (Nuisance) Officers have not raised any 

objection to the development given that the development is removed/shielded from 
nearby noise sources. Notwithstanding this it is acknowledged that there is the potential 
for disturbance during the construction period. It is considered that conditions relating 
to a Construction Management Plan (CMP) and hours of working would provide 
sufficient mitigation in this case.  

 
108. Similarly, Environment, Health and Consumer Protection consider that the development 

will not have a significant effect on air quality and there is no requirement to undertake 

Page 26



further assessment. Subject to conditions to secure a dust management action plan 
(can be included within the a CMP condition) and travel plan there would not be an 
adverse impact on the environment having regard to paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 

 
109. In relation to land contamination, the applicant has submitted a Phase 1 Desk Study, 

Phase 2 Site Investigation Report and Geoenvironmental Appraisal. Environment, 
Health and Consumer Protection (Contaminated Land) Officers advise that soils are 
chemically suitable for use in the garden and gas monitoring has also been undertaken 
and no elevated levels of carbon dioxide or methane was identified. They advised that 
there is no requirement for a contaminated land condition, however, an informative 
should be added with regards to unforeseen contamination. The proposal would 
therefore accord with Paragraph 178 of the NPPF as the site is suitable for its intended 
use taking account of any risks arising from contamination.  

 
110. Overall, the scheme would comply with DDLP Policies GDP1, EN25 and EN26 and 

Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF and would not lead to a significant reduction in residential 
amenity for existing or future residents, subject to appropriate conditions and the further 
control permitted via the reserved matters stage. 

 
Ecology  
 

111. Part 15 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments protect and mitigate harm to 
biodiversity interests, and where possible, improve them. DDLP Policy GDP1 requires 
the protection of designated sites, those species protected by the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act and seeks to ensure that there is no harmful impact on the ecology of 
the (former) District. This advice is considered consistent with the NPPF. Policy EN22 
applies to a number of Sites of Nature Conservation Importance across the former 
Derwentside District and advises that development should only be permitted where it 
would not lead to the loss of, or significant harm to, said sites. The advice contained 
within Policy EN22 is considered consistent with that within the NPPF. However, it is 
noted that the justification to the policy considers potential further ecological site 
designations which have now occurred, and in that sense, the policy is not fully up to 
date and therefore weight afforded to the policy should be reduced. The site is located 
1.7km to the north east of Knitsley and High House Wood Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and 
3.2km from Allensford Woods Local Nature Reserve (LNR). 
 

112. An ecological impact assessment has been submitted in support of the planning 
application which contains the necessary data to assess the direct and indirect impacts 
of the development and potential impacts on protected species. The preliminary 
appraisal concluded that there are no potential bat roosting opportunities within the site, 
however, they may forage and commute through the site, there is some potentially 
suitable habitat for great crested newt during its terrestrial phase, badgers are likely to 
be present in the wider area and may forage in the site at times, the grassland would 
likely provide opportunities for a limited suite of ground nesting birds as well as nesting 
opportunities within the existing hedges and scrubs The site may be suitable for the 
priority species brown hare, hedgehog and common toad that may be resident or 
present infrequently in small numbers. These species are afforded special legal 
protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and/or the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the Protection of Badgers Act 
1992. 

 
113. Having regard to this information and based on the likely impacts of the development 

upon ecological interests Section H of the report outlines a series of recommendations 
including carrying out of works at times of the year where disturbance will be minimised, 
ensuring excavations left overnight will have a means of escape for mammals, 
protecting the roots and crowns of trees during construction, implementation of a 

Page 27



sensitive lighting scheme, the installation of bat and bird nesting boxes and additional 
planting. The mitigation strategy can be secured by condition. 

 
114. Ecology officers have however raised concerns that in its current form the development 

would result in a loss of biodiversity without sufficient on-site mitigation to offset this. An 
assessment of these biodiversity losses has been undertaken which calculates the level 
of required compensation. The applicant has agreed to provide a financial contribution 
of £11,000, to be used towards offsite biodiversity enhancements in accordance with 
the framework identified in Durham County Council's Durham Biodiversity 
Compensation Strategy document, which would ensure that there is no net loss of 
biodiversity in regard to Paragraph 175 of the NPPF. This contribution would be secured 
by means of a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended).  

 
115. No interference with protected species is identified as a result of the development. A 

European Protected Species Licence is therefore not considered to be required as a 
result of the development having regards to the requirements of the Habitats Directive 
brought into effect by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
Therefore, subject to securing a financial contribution to deliver biodiversity offsetting 
and conditions relating to securing the mitigation strategy and a management plan for 
habitats to be created including an appropriate monitoring programme, the proposal 
would comply with DDLP Policies GDP1 (D) and EN22, and Part 15 of the NPPF in this 
respect. The Council’s Ecologist offers no objection to the scheme on this basis.  
 

Flooding and Drainage 
 

116. National advice within the NPPF and PPG with regard to flood risk advises that a 
sequential approach to the location of development should be taken with the objective 
of steering new development to flood zone 1 (areas with the lowest probability of river 
or sea flooding).  When determining planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere and only consider development 
appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-specific flood risk 
assessment. DDLP Policy GDP1 requires that development proposals provide 
adequate provision for surface water drainage and the protection of areas liable to flood 
from development. This policy is considered fully consistent with the content of the 
NPPF and can be attributed weight in the decision-making process. 

 
117. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment which highlights that the 

application site is within Flood Zone 1 with a low flood risk probability. Further 
information has been provided during the course of the application, including a drainage 
strategy and plan, indicating that SuDS are to be included in the form of detention basins 
and permeable paving. Drainage and Coastal Protection Officers advise that this 
approach would be in compliance with the Council’s adopted SuDS Adoption Guide. 
Notwithstanding this a conditional approach can be applied to secure a detailed surface 
water management scheme. Northumbrian Water raise no objection in this regard 
subject to the imposition of a condition. 

 
118. In relation to foul water, Northumbrian Water have recommended a conditional 

approach to secure a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul water from the 
development.  

 
119. On this basis no objections to the development on the grounds of flood risk or drainage 

are raised having regards to DDLP Policy GDP1 and Part 14 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 
Page 28



Heritage and Archaeology 
 
120. A geophysical survey has been submitted identifying some features which are possibly 

of archaeological origin and that some discrete features may not have been highlighted 
given the site has a strongly variable magnetic background. The results of the 
geophysical survey are required to be tested through trial trenching elevation and a 
Written Scheme of Investigation has now been agreed with the Council’s Archaeologist. 
A condition to secure trial trenching takes place prior to the submission of Reserved 
Matters would ensure the proposal complies with DDLP Policy EN19 and Paragraph 
189 of the NPPF which set out the requirements for an appropriate programme of 
archaeological investigation, recording and publication to be made. This policy is 
considered to be partially consistent with the content of the NPPF and can be attributed 
weight in the decision-making process.  

 
121. There are no designated or non-designated heritage assets within close proximity of the 

development site. Iveston Conservation Area, containing a Grade II listed War 
Memorial, cottage and outbuilding, is located approximately 1.6km to the east of the 
proposed built development.  The nearest listed building to the site is the Grade II Christ 
Church Church Hall, 1.05km to the north west of the site. The Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act imposes a statutory duty that, when considering whether 
to grant planning permission for a development which affects a listed building or its 
setting, the decision maker shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. Any such harm must be given considerable importance and weight by the 
decision maker. 
 

122. It is considered that there would be no intervisibility between the site and surrounding 
heritage assets due to the distances involved, the intervening buildings, topography and 
landscaping. The proposal would not adversely impact on the setting of either the 
Conservation Area or listed buildings. Design and Conservation officers have raised no 
objections to the proposal on heritage grounds. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF states that 
where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal, including securing its optimum viable use.  

 
123. In this case it is considered that there would be no harm. The proposals would therefore 

accord with Part 16 of the NPPF. 
 

Infrastructure and Open Space Provision 
 

124. DDLP Policy HO22 sets out that planning permission for new housing developments 
will be granted if the proposals include sufficient public open space and play areas in 
appropriate locations in accordance with specific targets or the developer agrees to 
make a financial payment in lieu of direct provision, where sufficient provision cannot 
be made on site. These targets have been revised under the Council’s Open Space 
Needs Assessment (OSNA) 2018, which is considered the most up to date assessment 
of need for the purposes of Paragraph 96 of the NPPF. Therefore, whilst the general 
thrust of Policy H022 is consistent with the content of the NPPF, the evidence base in 
respects to open space requirements has changed and, in that sense, the policy is not 
fully up to date.  
 

125. The OSNA sets out the requirements for public open space on a population pro rata 
basis, and this development would be expected to provide provision for five typologies, 
either within the site, or through a financial contribution towards offsite provision, in lieu.  

 

Page 29



126. Having regard to the scale of the development it is considered that play space 
(children’s), amenity open space and natural green space should be provided on-site. 
Given the scale of the development the children’s play space would comprise of a non-
equipped play area. As there is an existing play area in close proximity of the 
development on land adjacent to Sixth Street, (approximately 100m to the north east of 
the site) it may be more appropriate to secure an off-site contribution towards the 
enhancement of existing facilities. Planning conditions can secure the 2,771sqm of 
relevant on-site amenity open space and natural green space as well as its future 
management and maintenance. The development would generate a required 
contribution of £170,485.50 for those typologies not provided and underprovided for on 
site, which would be secured through a planning obligation under Section 106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). This would satisfy the OSNA 
requirements and Paragraph 96 of the NPPF with regards to the provision of public open 
space. 

 
127. Paragraph 94 of NPPF confirms that the government places great importance to ensure 

that sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new 
communities. The School Places and Admissions Manager advises that a development 
of 105 houses could produce an additional 32 primary pupils and 13 additional 
secondary pupils. There is insufficient capacity at both the local primary (Delves Lane 
Primary, Consett Infant and Nursery School, Consett Junior School and Leadgate 
Primary School) and secondary (Consett Academy) schools to accommodate this need. 
A total contribution of £685,698, comprising of a primary (32 x £14,703 = £470,496) and 
secondary (13 x £16,554 = £215,202) contribution element, to be used towards 
education provision is therefore required. This would be secured as a planning 
obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
128. Paragraph 92 of NPPF recognises the need for planning decisions to ensure an 

integrated approach when considering the location of new housing and to plan positively 
for the provision and use of community facilities and local services. This provides policy 
justification to seek mitigation in respect to essential services including GP provision 
where a deficit would result or be exacerbated by the proposal. The North Durham 
Clinical Commissioning Group (ND CCG) has advised that based on the additional 
population likely to be generated by the development there is a requirement for a 
financial contribution of £50,715 to mitigate the impacts of the development. 
Notwithstanding this it is anticipated that the Council’s ‘Developer Contributions to 
Mitigate Impacts on Health Policy’ will be progressed to Cabinet shortly for endorsement 
and the application of this policy would significantly reduce the contribution sought. 
Given the likely potential for impending adoption of this policy the developer has 
requested a review clause in any Section 106 Agreement that would permit the 
contribution to reflect this Council developer contributions paper should it indeed be 
adopted prior to its requirement to be paid. In either event the contribution sought would 
improve access to healthcare provision in Consett and therefore make the proposed 
housing expansion supportable from a health infrastructure perspective.  

 
Affordable and Accessible/Adapted Housing 
 
129. Paragraph 62 of the NPPF sets out that, where a need has been established, an 

appropriate level of affordable housing should be provided. The Council's Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) is the evidence base used to inform the need for 
affordable housing. The site falls within a low viability area, this means that 10% of the 
properties within the scheme would need to be affordable, this equates to 11 units if the 
site delivered 105 units. Paragraph 64 NPPF directs that 10% of the scheme is provided 
in the form of affordable home ownership. In this case instance there would be no 
requirement to provide any affordable rented housing. The applicant has indicated that 

Page 30



this level of provision would be delivered to be secured in perpetuity through a planning 
obligation under S106 of the Town and County Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 

130. The SHMA also outlines a requirement to provide 10% of the private and intermediate 
properties for older people through either the provision of bungalows or suitably adapted 
dwellings. However, this requirement is not currently reflected in planning policy as per 
paragraph 61 NPPF. Ultimately the final mix of house type for the development would 
be resolved at the reserved matters stage. 
 

Planning Obligations 
 
131. Paragraph 56 of the NPPF, and Paragraph 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 set out three planning tests which must be met in order for weight to 
be given to a planning obligation. These being that matters specified are necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the 
development, and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. The proposed contributions towards ensuring net biodiversity gains are 
achieved, providing additional teaching accommodation, improving access to 
healthcare provision and off-site open space provision are considered to be in 
accordance with these tests, as is the securing of affordable housing. 

 
Other Issues 
 

132. The site lies almost entirely within the coal mining high risk area. Specifically, it is likely 
to have been subject to historic unrecorded underground coal mining at shallow depth.  
The Phase 2 Site Investigation Report outlines that in terms of the boreholes that were 
advanced sufficient competent bedrock was proven. It consequently confirms that coal 
mining related subsidence risk is classed as low and that no precautions/remedial 
measures are considered necessary. Accordingly, the site is considered to be safe and 
stable from a mining viewpoint. The Coal Authority confirm the content and conclusions 
of the report and intrusive site investigations undertaken are sufficient to demonstrate 
that the site is safe and stable for the proposed development. On this basis they raise 
no objection to the development. The proposal therefore complies with the requirements 
of Part 15 of the NPPF.  

 
133. The proposal has generated some public interest, with a number of letters of objection 

having been received. The majority of the objections and concerns raised have been 
taken account and addressed within the report. Although the site may have been 
marketed and subsequently sold by Durham County Council as grazing land it does 
prevent planning applications coming forward to consider alternative uses for the land 
which would need to be determined on their merits. Whilst the Local Planning Authority 
will endeavour to determine applications within 13 weeks often this is not possible given 
the complexity of development proposals. It is common practice to allow developers the 
opportunity to amend their proposal to address concerns during the proposal with 
reports being presented to Committee at the earliest opportunity. Property devaluation 
and the loss of view are not material planning considerations. 

 
134. NPPF Paragraph 172 states that LPAs should recognise the economic and other 

benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land and where significant 
development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a 
higher quality. The approach to DDLP Policy AG1 is consistent with the NPPF as it also 
seeks to protect better quality agricultural land (grades 2 or 3a) therefore can be 
afforded full weight.  

 

Page 31



135. The applicant has confirmed that the land has not been used for agricultural purposes 
in recent years and is essentially considered to be vacant scrub land. An Agricultural 
Land Classification Report has not been submitted in support of the application as a 
result. Although the quality of the land for agricultural purposes is unknown, as the 
development would only result in the loss of approximately 3.34ha of land it is not 
considered to amount to significant development for the purposes of the NPPF.  

 
Planning Balance  
 
136. The acceptability of the development should be considered in the context of Paragraph 

11(d) of the NPPF as there are no relevant policies within the Local Plan which inform 
on housing. Furthermore, there are no NPPF policies that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provide a clear reason to refuse the application and therefore in 
order to justify the refusal of planning permission any adverse impacts of a proposed 
development must significantly and demonstrably outweigh any benefits.    

 
Benefits  
 
137. The development would assist in maintaining housing land supply including the 

provision of affordable housing whilst acknowledging that the Council can demonstrate 
in excess of 6 years housing land supply against an objectively assessed need. 
Accordingly, the weight to be afforded to the boost to housing supply as a benefit of the 
development is reduced. 

 
138. To a degree the development would provide direct and indirect economic benefits within 

the locality and from further afield in the form of expenditure in the local economy. This 
would include the creation of construction jobs, as well as further indirect jobs over the 
lifetime of the development. A temporary economic uplift would be expected to result 
from the development and expenditure benefits to the area. 

 
139. Overall, based upon the ecological works proposed in additional to the financial 

contribution to be secured through a planning obligation under S106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, it is considered that the development would lead to net gain 
in terms of biodiversity. 

 
Adverse Impacts 
 
140. The development of the site for housing would have a transformative and adverse impact 

on the immediate local landscape typical of any development of a greenfield site. 
Notwithstanding this, due to the surrounding context it is considered that the additional 
housing proposed would not look uncharacteristic. Within wider views there will be 
limited intervisibility from the north and west due to the landform and existing 
landscaping. In other views, given the shape of the site it is considered that it would be 
seen as a narrow and modest extension to the settlement and seen against the backdrop 
of existing development. A landscaping scheme can also be undertaken to help soften 
the edge treatment and enhance existing retained vegetation. Overall whilst it is 
acknowledged there would be some residual landscape and visual harm as a result of 
the development this would not be significantly adverse. 
 

CONCLUSION 

 
141. The acceptability of the application should be considered in the context of the planning 

balance test contained within Paragraph 11d of the NPPF. Therefore, in order to justify 
the refusal of planning permission any adverse impacts of a proposed development 
must significantly and demonstrably outweigh any benefits.  

Page 32



 
142. The application site is neither locally, nor nationally designated in terms of its landscape 

quality. Whilst the development would alter the character of the landscape overall it is 
considered that this would not be significantly adverse as the development would be 
read as an extension to the existing settlement and landscaping planting could help to 
mitigate this impact. For the purposes of Paragraph 11d ii, this harm would not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the recognised, social and economic benefits 
of new housing even when considering the Council’s housing land supply position. 
Therefore, in accordance with Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the proposed development 
should be granted planning permission.  

 
143. Paragraph 56 of the NPPF, and Paragraph 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 set out three planning tests which must be met in order for weight to 
be given to a planning obligation. These being that matters specified are necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the 
development, and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. The proposed contributions towards ensuring net biodiversity gains are 
achieved, providing additional teaching accommodation, improving access to 
healthcare provision and off-site open space provision are considered to be in 
accordance with these tests, as is the securing of affordable housing. 
 

144. The proposal has generated some limited public interest with fifteen letters of objection 
having been received including a joint representation from the two local members. The 
objections and concerns raised have been taken into account and addressed within the 
report. On balance the concerns raised were not felt to be of sufficient weight to justify 
refusal of this application in light of the benefits of the scheme and the ability to impose 
conditions and secure planning obligations under S106 of The Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That the application is APPROVED subject to the completion of a Section 106 Legal 
Agreement to secure the following:  
 

 provision of 10% affordable housing units on site in the form of affordable home 
ownership; 

 £470,496 towards providing additional primary teaching accommodation across the 
Consett Primary Pupil Place Planning Area (21);  

 £215,202 towards providing additional teaching accommodation at Consett Academy; 

 £170,485.50 towards improving offsite open space and recreational provision within 
Delves Lane Electoral Division;  

 £50,715 for improving access to healthcare provision in the vicinity of the development 
but including a final sum review clause given potential adoption of Council’s ‘Developer 
Contributions to Mitigate Impacts on Health Policy’ 

 £11,000 is required to be used by the Council towards biodiversity enhancements in 
accordance with the framework identified in Durham County Council’s Local 
Biodiversity Compensation Strategy  

 
And subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Application for approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of two years from the final 
approval of the reserved matters. 

 
Page 33



Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. Approval of the details of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale (hereinafter called 

"the reserved matters") shall be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority 
before any development is commenced. 

 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
3. The development hereby approved shall comprise a maximum of 105 dwellings. 
 

Reason: To define the consent and precise number of dwellings approved. 
 
4. The development hereby approved in shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents:  
 

Drg. No. CAD01/Ind01 Site Location Plan received 12/07/2017 
 

 Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with Derwentside District Local Plan Policy GDP1, EN1, EN2, 
EN11, HO22, RE4, TR2 and TR3. 

 
5.  No development shall commence until a Written Scheme of Investigation setting out a 

phased programme of archaeological work in accordance with 'Standards For All 
Archaeological Work In County Durham And Darlington' has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The programme of archaeological 
work will then be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme of works.   

 
Reason: To safeguard any Archaeological Interest in the site, and to comply with part 
16 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Required to be a pre-commencement 
condition as the archaeological investigation/mitigation must be devised prior to the 
development being implemented. 

 
6. No development or any works of demolition, shall be carried out until a Construction 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The Construction Management Plan shall include as a minimum but not 
necessarily be restricted to the following:  
 
1.  A Dust Action Plan including measures to control the emission of dust and dirt 

during construction  
2. Details of methods and means of noise reduction/suppression.  
3.  Where construction involves penetrative piling, details of methods for piling of 

foundations including measures to suppress any associated noise and vibration.  
4.  Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating onto the 

highway from all vehicles entering and leaving the site;  
5.  Designation, layout and design of construction access and egress points;   
6.  Details for the provision of directional signage (on and off site);  
7.  Details of contractors' compounds, materials storage and other storage 

arrangements, including cranes and plant, equipment and related temporary 
infrastructure;  

8.  Details of provision for all site operatives for the loading and unloading of plant, 
machinery and materials  

9.  Details of provision for all site operatives, including visitors and construction 
vehicles for parking and turning within the site during the construction period;  

10.  Routing agreements for construction traffic.  

Page 34



11.  Details of the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;  

12.  Waste audit and scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of waste 
resulting from demolition and construction works.  

13.  Detail of measures for liaison with the local community and procedures to deal 
with any complaints received.  

 
The management strategy shall have regard to BS 5228 "Noise and Vibration Control 
on Construction and Open Sites" during the planning and implementation of site 
activities and operations.  
 
The approved Construction Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction works.  
 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity having regards to Policy GDP1 of the 
Derwentside District Local Plan and Part 15 of the NPPF. Required to be pre-
commencement as construction activity mitigation must be agreed before works 
commence. 
 

7. No development shall commence until full engineering details of the new access onto 
Gloucester Road have been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The access scheme needs to be designed to a width of 5.5m with 6m entry 
junction radii, site visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m need to be clearly demonstrated and 
shall include full details of the relocation of existing public transport infrastructure 
adjacent to the site entrance. The development shall thereafter be completed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy TR2 of the 
Derwentside District Local Plan and Part 4 of the NPPF. 
 

8. Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling hereby approved, full engineering details 
including a timetable of implementation and future maintenance of the internal highway 
network layout, including private shared drives and pedestrian footways shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the details and timings. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy TR2 of the 
Derwentside District Local Plan and Part 4 of the NPPF. 

 
9. No development shall commence until a detailed scheme for the provision of foul and 

surface water drainage informed by Flood Risk Assessment Rev. A dated June 2017, 
Surface Water Drainage Strategy Rev.A dated June 2017 and Sketch Drainage Plan 
dwg. no. SK-11/02/2019 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme for surface water drainage shall include sustainable 
urban drainage systems within the design in accordance with the Council's SUDs 
Adoption Guide 2016 and details of the management and maintenance regime for those 
systems. The drainage shall be completed in accordance with the details agreed. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the adequate disposal of foul and surface water in 
accordance with Parts 14 and 15 of the NPPF. This is required as a pre commencement 
condition to ensure that the proposed development provides adequate levels of 
drainage which needs to be considered before site works commence. 
 

10. No development shall commence nor any works to trees or hedgerows until details of 
the trees and hedgerows proposed for retention have been submitted to and approved 

Page 35



by the Local Planning Authority. Once agreed, retained trees shall be protected by the 
erection of fencing and comprising a vertical and horizontal framework of scaffolding, 
well braced to resist impacts, and supporting temporary welded mesh fencing panels or 
similar in accordance with BS 5837:2012. Protection measures shall remain in place 
until the cessation of the development works. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area having regards to Policies 
GDP1 and EN11 of the Derwentside District Local Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the 
NPPF. Required to be pre-commencement as landscape features must be protected 
prior to works, vehicles and plant entering the site. 

 
11. Prior to the construction of the 1st dwelling hereby approved full engineering details of 

the mini roundabout road junction improvement layout at Delves Lane / Gloucester 
Road shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details 
prior to occupation of the 50th dwelling. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy TR2 of the 
Derwentside District Local Plan and Part 4 of the NPPF. 
 

12. Prior to the construction of the 1st dwelling hereby approved full details of the proposed 
site levels, finished floor levels and all means of enclosure to erected within the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted details must include details of any retaining walls/structures 
required including their interaction with other means of enclosure such as garden fences 
within the site. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

   
Reason: In the interests of defining the consent, residential and visual amenity in 
accordance with Policy GDP1 of the Derwentside District Local Plan and Part 12 of the 
NPPF. 

 
13. Prior to the occupation of the first dwelling a scheme for the ongoing maintenance of 

the areas of public open space including any on-site biodiversity mitigation within the 
development hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. In the event of proposals to maintain the public open space 
by means other than through transfer to the Local Authority then the scheme shall 
provide for details of an agreed maintenance and cutting schedule in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: In the interests of appearance of the area in accordance with Policy GDP1 of 
the Derwentside District Local Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 

 
14. No dwelling shall be occupied until the post investigation assessment has been 

completed in accordance with the approved Written Scheme of Investigation. The 
provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results, and archive 
deposition, should be confirmed in writing to, and approved by, the Local Planning 
Authority.   

 
Reason: To comply with Paragraph 199 of the NPPF, which requires the developer to 
record and advance understanding of the significance of heritage assets, and to ensure 
information gathered becomes publicly accessible. 
 

15. Within a period of six months of the first occupation of any part of the development of 
the relevant phase, a final Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented and adhered 
to thereafter in accordance with the approved timescales. 

Page 36



 
Reason: To reduce reliance on the private motor car and to promote sustainable 
transport methods in accordance with Policy GDP1 of the Derwentside District Local 
Plan and Parts 9 and 15 of the NPPF. 

 
16. Notwithstanding the indicative layout submitted with the application, a minimum of 

2,771sqm of open space shall be provided on site.  
 
Reason: In the interests of appearance of the area in accordance with Parts 12 and 15 
of the NPPF. 

 
17. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations outlined 

within Section H of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal R02 by E3 Ecology Ltd dated 
June 2017. 

 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring no protected species are affected by the 
development in accordance with Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18.  No external construction works, works of demolition, deliveries, external running of plant 

and equipment shall take place other than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on 
Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 on Saturday. 

 
No internal works audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site other 
than between the hours of 0730 to 1800 on Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1700 on 
Saturday. 
 
No construction works or works of demolition whatsoever, including deliveries, external 
running of plant and equipment, internal works whether audible or not outside the site 
boundary, shall take place on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays. 

 
For the purposes of this condition, construction works are defined as: The carrying out 
of any building, civil engineering or engineering construction work involving the use of 
plant and machinery including hand tools. 
 
Reason: To protect the residential amenity of existing and future residents from the 
development to comply with Part 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

19. Reserved matters details submitted must include the provision of a northern boundary 
edge landscaping buffer planting scheme as indicatively proposed on the Sketch 
Housing Layout (Drg. No 1640.03. Rev.D).  

 
Reason: In the interests of appearance of the area in accordance with Policy GDP1 of 
the Derwentside District Local Plan and Parts 12 and 15 of the NPPF. 
 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
In accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority has, without 
prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner 
with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
 

  

Page 37



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
 Submitted application form, plans supporting documents and subsequent information 

provided by the applicant. 
 The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
 National Planning Practice Guidance notes. 
 Derwentside District Local Plan 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Land Assessment 
 County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
 DCC Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Adoption Guide 2016 
 Statutory, internal and public consultation responses 
  

Page 38



 

 

 
 

 

 

   Planning Services 

Outline planning application with all matters 
reserved (except access) for up to 105 dwellings 
including associated infrastructure and open space 
provision (amended description 04/12/2018). 
Chan Commercial Limited and Gleeson 
Regeneration Ltd 
Land To The North East Of Castledene Road, 
Delves Lane 
Ref: DM/17/02333/OUT 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission o Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or civil proceeding. 
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005 

Comments  
 
 

Date 31st October 2019 Scale   Not to 
Scale 
 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Services 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

APPLICATION DETAILS 

 

APPLICATION NO: DM/19/02431/FPA 

FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION: 
Proposed removal of ground floor windows to Front 
Street elevation and insertion of sliding folding glazed 
doors to new openings formed 

NAME OF APPLICANT: Mr Jon Randall, JD Wetherspoon 

ADDRESS: 
The Wicket Gate 
193 Front Street 
Chester-le-Street 

ELECTORAL DIVISION: Chester-le-Street West Central 

CASE OFFICER: 

Louisa Ollivere 
Planning Officer 
Telephone: 03000 264878 
louisa.ollivere@durham.gov.uk 

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS 

 
The Site 
 

1. This application relates to the Wicket Gate Public House which lies at the 
southernmost end of Chester-le-Street Front Street. The building is mainly a two-
storey property but has a single storey element with a flat roof to the rear. A mini 
roundabout and the Front Street roadway lie immediately to the east. Adjacent to the 
property to the west is a petrol garage. To the north is another public house. 
Opposite the property are several commercial properties with offices and flats above. 
There are rows of terraced residential properties 40m to the east and 115m to the 
west.  

 
The Proposal 
 

2. The application proposes the removal of the existing window frames on the Front 
Street elevation and the widening of the openings and installation of aluminium 
folding doors within the openings with a 1.55m high glass balustrade in front of the 
doors.   
  

3. This application is reported to Committee upon the request of Councillor Simon 
Henig on the basis of noise and disturbance to local residents. 

 
 

PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4. The site’s planning history in the last 18 years mainly relates to minor applications 

relating to the building’s current use as a public house, however the following are of 
some relevance to this application:  

Page 41

Agenda Item 5b

mailto:louisa.ollivere@durham.gov.uk


 
5. 08/00033/COU Proposed change of use of land to the side of building to form 

outside seating area for the placing of tables and chairs for use in connection with 
licensed premises (withdrawn). 

 
6. 2/12/00089/FUL Creation of external beer garden and smoking area (Approved). 

 
7. DM/17/03945/FPA Provision of beer garden on existing flat roof (Approved). 

 
 

PLANNING POLICY 

NATIONAL POLICY  
 

8. The Government has consolidated all planning policy statements, guidance notes 
and many circulars into a single policy statement, the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), although the majority of supporting Annexes to the planning 
policy statements are retained. The NPPF was updated in July 2018. The overriding 
message remains that new development that is sustainable should go ahead without 
delay. It defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable development under 
three topic headings – economic, social and environmental, each mutually 
dependant.  

 
9. In accordance with paragraph 48 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the 

weight to be attached to relevant saved local plan policy will depend upon the degree 
of consistency with the NPPF.  The greater the consistency, the greater the weight. 
The relevance of this issue is discussed, where appropriate, in the assessment 
section of the report below. 

 
10. The following elements of the NPPF are considered relevant to this proposal; 

 
11. NPPF Part 2 - Achieving sustainable development. The purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and therefore 
at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. It 
defines the role of planning in achieving sustainable development under three 
overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental, which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. The application 
of the presumption in favour of sustainable development for plan-making and 
decision-taking is outlined. 
 

12. NPPF Part 6 - Building a strong, competitive economy - The Government is 
committed to securing economic growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, 
building on the country’s inherent strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of 
global competition and a low carbon future. 
 
 

13. NPPF Part 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities. The planning system can 
play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities. It should promote social interaction, including opportunities for 
meetings between people who might not otherwise come into contact with each 
other. Developments should be safe and accessible, ‘so that crime and disorder, and 
the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion’. 
 

14. NPPF Part 12 - Achieving well-designed places. Planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that developments achieve a range of aims including, ‘create places 

Page 42



that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with 
a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and 
disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion and resilience’. 
 

15. NPPF Part 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. The Planning 
System should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests, 
recognising the wider benefits of ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, 
preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put at 
unacceptable risk from pollution and land stability and remediating contaminated or 
other degraded land where appropriate. 

NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE:  
 

16. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) both supports the core 
government guidance set out in the NPPF, and represents detailed advice, both 
technical and procedural, having material weight in its own right. The advice is set 
out in a number of topic headings and is subject to change to reflect the up to date 
advice of Ministers and Government. 

 
17. Design -The importance of good design. Good quality design is an integral part of 

sustainable development. The National Planning Policy Framework recognises that 
design quality matters and that planning should drive up standards across all forms 
of development. As a core planning principle, plan-makers and decision takers 
should always seek to secure high quality design, it enhances the quality of buildings 
and spaces, by considering amongst other things form and function; efficiency and 
effectiveness and their impact on wellbeing. 
 

18. Noise - Noise needs to be considered when new developments may create 
additional noise and when new developments would be sensitive to the prevailing 
acoustic environment. Consideration should be given to whether significant adverse 
effect or an adverse effect occurs or is likely to occur; or whether a good standard of 
amenity can be achieved.  Paragraph 123 of the NPPF provides policy support to 
this aspect. 

 
LOCAL PLAN POLICY:  
 

19. There are no saved policies in the Chester-le-Street Local Plan 2003 relevant to the 
consideration of this application. 

 
RELEVANT EMERGING POLICY: 
 

20. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF states that decision-takers may give weight to relevant 
policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of the emerging plan; the extent to 
which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; and, the degree of 
consistency of the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF. 
Following consultation at ‘Issues & Options’, ‘Preferred Options’ and ‘Pre-Submission 
Draft’ stages, the CDP was approved for submission by the Council on 19 June 
2019. The CDP was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 28 June 2019 and 
the EIP is currently progressing. Although the CDP is now at a relatively advanced 
stage of preparation, it is considered that it is not sufficiently advanced to be afforded 
any weight in the decision-making process at the present time. 

 

Page 43



The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full 
text, criteria, and justifications of each may be accessed at 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/How-we-currently-make-planning-and-development-decisions 

 

 

CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES 

 
STATUTORY RESPONSES: 
 

21. Highways – Have no objections but request an informative in relation to the legal 
requirements in terms of doors opening onto highways. 

 
EXTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 

22. Durham Constabulary – Object to the enlargement of the front windows as they 
considered they would be a safety hazard due to people loitering on the footpath 
whilst interacting with the customers inside, both blocking the pavement and being a 
distraction for drivers on the mini roundabout which is tight to negotiate.  

 
INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES: 
 

23. Environmental Health – Note that the applicant’s intent is to change the functioning 
of the premises so as to stop playing music. The Officer also notes that the 
developer has agreed that any glazing provided will be sufficient to meet the current 
acoustic value provided by the existing window units. It is recognised that the 
applicants have agreed to conditions to ensure the above. The Officer requires 
conditions to be imposed in relation to restricting music and in relation to ensuring 
the closure of the doors between 21.00 to 09.00 to prevent the breakout of voices. 
As music is not to be played, the Officer does not feel it necessary to ensure controls 
over the acoustic properties of the doors. With such conditions the Officer considers 
that this will be sufficient to mitigate the potential of statutory nuisance and amenity 
impacts therefore the Officer does not object. 

 
PUBLIC RESPONSES: 
 

24. A public consultation exercise has been undertaken and this has resulted in 30 
letters of objection from local residents whose concerns are summarised as follows:  

 Health and safety issues from passive smoking on pavement. 

 Noise and disturbance from the premises. 

 Customers will block pavement. 

 No need for further outside area. 

 Littering will take place on footpath through openings. 

 There is already ASBO issues in the vicinity. 

 This will open up access of most of building onto the footpath. 
 
 
  

The above is not intended to list every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on 
this application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at 

https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P0LOOYGDIS300 

 
 
 
 

Page 44

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/How-we-currently-make-planning-and-development-decisions
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P0LOOYGDIS300
https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=P0LOOYGDIS300


 

 

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT 

 
The Principle of the Development 
 

25. Having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and 
all other material planning considerations, including representations received, it is 
considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the principle of 
development and the impacts upon residential amenity and the character of the area. 
 

The Development Plan 
 

26. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined 
in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. The NPPF is a material planning consideration. The Chester-le-Street 
District Local Plan remains the statutory development plan and the starting point for 
determining applications as set out at Paragraph 12 of the NPPF. The NPPF advises 
at Paragraph 213 that the weight to be afforded to existing Local Plan Policy 
depends upon the degree of consistency with the NPPF. 
 

27. This Local Plan was adopted in 2003 and was intended to cover the plan period until 
2006. However, the Framework advises that Local Plan policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of 
the NPPF.  
 

28. This is an application for alteration to an existing commercial development within 
Chester-le-Street Town Centre. The Development Plan is silent in respect of such 
development therefore consideration of the development should be led by paragraph 
11 of the NPPF.  
 

The NPPF 
 

29. Paragraph 11(d) advises that where there are no relevant development plan polices, 
planning permission should be granted unless i) the application of framework policies 
which protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusal or ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits when assessed against framework policies as a whole.  There 
are no framework policies which protect areas or assets of particular importance 
affecting this site.  Paragraph 11(d)(ii) therefore applies. 

 
Policy Principle  
 

30. The NPPF advises that decisions should help create the conditions in which 
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. The Wetherspoons company is both 
investing in and adapting the Wicket Gate premises and the changes are required to 
assist in the conversion of the premises from a Lloyds NO1 bar into a Wetherspoons 
pub which will no longer play amplified live music or host DJ nights. The alterations 
would allow the premises to continue to contribute positively to the daytime and early 
evening economy aiding to the vitality and viability of the commercial centre. The 
proposal therefore gains support from the NPPF in these respects, however the 
acceptability of the scheme will depend upon the application of the balancing 
exercise required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF which is considered in more detail 
later in this report.  
 

Page 45



Impact upon Neighbouring Amenity and the Surrounding Area  
 

31. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF requires developments to create places that promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
The NPPF in paragraph 170 requires new and existing development to be prevented 
from contributing to, or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of noise pollution. It is advised within paragraph 180 
of the NPPF that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account 
the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions 
and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the 
wider area to impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so it advises 
that development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impact 
resulting from noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to 
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life.  
 

32. It is generally accepted that occupiers of residential properties within town centres 
cannot expect the same level of peace and quiet as those who live in more distant 
and predominantly residential areas. Nevertheless, it is considered that such 
residents are entitled to a reasonable degree of peace and quiet during the small 
hours when most people are asleep. 
 

33. Concerns have been raised by local residents in relation to the breakout of noise and 
potential for increase to anti-social behaviour in the area.  The closest residential 
properties are 40 metres away from the site. Given the late opening hours of the 
current use and the proximity to residential properties, without suitable controls there 
would be significant impacts upon the neighbouring residential properties resulting in 
a loss of amenity to residents from noise and disturbance and the likelihood of a 
statutory nuisance. Concerns have been raised to the original submission by 
residents, the Police and the Environmental Health Officer in relation to the opening 
up of windows and the escape of noise from amplified music and people from within 
until late into the evening.  
 

34. In response to this the applicants have confirmed that as the premises is changing to 
a traditional Wetherspoons pub and that there will no longer be any amplified or live 
music being played at any time on the premises and they agreeable to a condition to 
this effect. The applicants are also agreeable to a condition to ensure that the door 
be closed after 9pm. Furthermore, the applicants are willing to ensure that the sliding 
doors will be of better or at least the same attenuation /insulation value as the current 
window construction, although the Environmental Health Officer no longer thinks this 
is necessary. With conditions restricting live and amplified music and door opening 
hours the proposal would not be considered to be harmful to residential amenity or 
cause a statutory nuisance. It is considered that the escape of customer noise would 
not affect the acoustic character of the area to the extent that there would be a 
perceived change in quality of life to local residents. 

 
35. Paragraph 91 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that developments do not undermine the 

quality of life or community cohesion – for example through the use of clear and 
legible pedestrian routes, and high-quality public space, which encourage the active 
and continual use of public areas 

. 
36. Admittedly the town centre and surrounding area suffer some anti-social behaviour 

issues however it is noted that the Police consider the management of the premises 
to be very pro-active and consider it a well-run establishment. The main element of 
concern to the Police and local residents is in relation to smokers not only loitering 
on the pavement but interacting with customers inside whilst doing so and customers 
inside littering the pavement through the doors. However, the nature of the 

Page 46



establishment is not one associated with litter production. With regards to smokers, it 
is anticipated that the number of smokers standing outside the front would be less 
than at present as they will be able to both drink and smoke in the large roof beer 
garden which already has planning permission and that is shortly to be developed. A 
condition can ensure that the doors shall not be in operation until the already 
approved beer garden is also open for use.   

 
Design Considerations and Impacts upon character of the area 

 
37. The NPPF attaches great weight to good design and seeks to ensure that 

developments address connections between people and places and the integration 
of the new development into the natural, built and historic environment.  
 

38. The proposed predominantly glazed frontage would present a modern aesthetic in 
keeping with the modern appearance of the building. Therefore, there would be a 
negligible impact upon the visual amenity of the area. 
 

Access/Parking/Highway Safety 
 

39. Whilst the Police and public have concerns over safety of users of the footpath the 
design features and conditions detailed above would prevent this becoming an issue 
in front of the building. Furthermore, the Highways Officer has no objections to the 
proposals in terms of highways safety. 

 
 
Conclusion 

 
40. The NPPF outlines three dimensions to sustainable development, which needs to be 

considered together. These are economic, social and environmental roles. In respect 
of the balance of benefit versus harm for this application the following is noted. The 
application would support an existing town centre use contributing to the vitality and 
viability of Chester-le-Street Town Centre. The potential for significant adverse 
impacts upon residential amenity (noise) and anti-social behaviour can be mitigated 
to the extent they have a neutral impact to the quality of life for local residents. 
Matters in relation to design and visual amenity are considered neutral and do not 
weigh in favour or against the proposals. 
 

41. The nearest noise sensitive receptors are 40 metres away from the site and this 
distance together with conditions lead Officers to consider that there would be no 
significant adverse impacts from the proposal in terms of noise and anti-social 
behaviour therefore the economic benefits of the development weigh in favour of this 
proposal. Issues raised by local residents, whilst noted, do not alter the conclusion of 
this assessment.  

   
 

CONCLUSION 

 
42. The scheme brings some economic benefits, and conditions will ensure no adverse 

impacts, therefore applying the ‘tilted balance’ required by paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF, there are no adverse impacts which will significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits.  Accordingly, planning permission should be granted, subject 
to the identified conditions.  

 
 
 

Page 47



 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

That the application be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Plan Reference No:                             Date submitted:  
 
Site Location Plan           26.07.2019 
Proposed Ground Floor F1941-09       26.07.2019 
Proposed elevation        F1941-12       26.07.2019 
 
Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is 
obtained in accordance with the NPPF. 

 
3. No live or amplified music shall be played at the premises at any time. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with section 15 of the 
NPPF. 
 

4. The sliding doors hereby approved serving the front façade shall not be opened 
outside of the hours of 09.00-21.00. 

 
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity in accordance with section 15 of the 
NPPF. 

 
5. The approved glazed doors shall remain closed until the roof garden beer garden is 

available for use. 
 

Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity in accordance with section 
15 the NPPF.  

 
 

STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT 

 
The Local Planning Authority in arriving at its decision to approve the application has, 
without prejudice to a fair and objective assessment of the proposals, issues raised and 
representations received, sought to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
manner with the objective of delivering high quality sustainable development to improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area in accordance with the NPPF. 
(Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.) 
 
 

Page 48



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
National Planning Practice Guidance Notes 
Chester-le-Street Local Plan 2003 (saved policies) 
Statutory, internal and public consultation responses 
Submitted forms, plans and supporting documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

   Planning Services 

Provision of beer garden on existing flat roof. 
 
Application Number DM/19/02431/FPA 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the 
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of Her majesty’s 
Stationary Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may 
lead to prosecution or civil proceeding. 
Durham County Council Licence No. 100022202 2005 

Comments  
 
 

Date  31.10.2019 Scale   NTS 

Page 50



 

 

PLANNING DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY Q1/Q2 - 2019/20 

/18 

Statistical information is collated on a quarterly basis on the performance of core elements of 

the Planning Development Service, as part of the Council’s corporate performance 

management framework. 

In particular, information on the numbers and types of planning applications received and the 

timescales taken for determination are collated, monitored and, compared with other local 

planning authorities, predominanalty on a regional basis. More detailed information is also 

collected and analysed about key elements of the processes involved, to help inform and 

improve service delivery.  

In your role as decision-makers, it is important that key information about planning 

performance is shared with our planning committees. As a bi-annual update, the information 

provided below details the headline performance information for Q1 and Q2 in the 2019/20 

period, covering April 2019 through to September 2019 (with the exception of comparator 

authority data which is for July 2018 to June 2019).  

Headline facts (Q1/Q2 for 2018/19 figures in brackets for comparison) 

 1433 (1326) planning applications were received of which 61 (55) were for major 

development. 

 The number of ‘major’ planning applications determined within the statutory 13 week 

timescale was 96.1% (96.3%). 

 The number of ‘minor’ planning applications determined within the statutory 8 week 

period timescale was 90.3% (93.0%). 

 The number of ‘other’ planning applications determined within the statutory 8 week 

period timescale was 98.2% (97.7%). 

 The number of all categories of planning application determined within the statutory 

timescale was 95.9% (96.4%). 

 The number of Mineral and Waste applications determined within the statutory 

timescale was 100% (100%). 

 There were 21 appeal decisions received, of which, 5 were allowed. 

In broad terms, the headline facts above show consistent performance across key indicators 

for the last two quarters when compared to the corresponding period last year.  

The tables below show the key results in more detail and with a breakdown reflecting the area 

planning teams which in turn serve the relevant planning committees. More detailed 

information relating to all the performance indicators measured by the service can be obtained 

upon request from Stephen Reed, Planning Development Manager. 

 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 

 

 
Figure 1(Source –CLG Live planning statistics table 132/134 year ending June 2019) 

100

79.1

96.7
91.9

100

90
98.5 96.292.9

97.2 99.5 96.595.7
100 100 98.6

60 80 80

NI157A
% MAJOR APPS DECIDED 13 WKS

NI157B
% MINOR APPS DECIDED 8 WKS

NI157C
% OTHER APPS DECIDED 8 WKS

OVERALL
% ALL APPS DECIDED IN TIME

% of Applications Decided in Time (Table A)

Central East North South West Strategic National Indicator Targets

538, 
Central 

East

295, North

545, South 
West

55, 
Strategic 
(County)

Applications
Received

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100
Comparator Authorities: Performance year ending June 2019 

(Table B)

%delegated %major %minor %other

Central East 

 
 

4 Planning appeals 

2 allowed 

South West 
 

 

 

7 Planning appeals 

1 allowed 

Strategic 
        

   
 

0 Planning appeals 

 

North 
         

 
5 Planning appeals 

2 allowed 
 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

 
Figure 2(Source –CLG Live planning statistics table 134 year ending December 2018) 

ENFORCEMENT 

     

County Durham
2543

Darlington
529

Gateshead
853

Hartlepool
410

Middlesbrough
512

Newcastle 
upon Tyne

1252
North Tyneside

881

Northumberland
2091

Northumberland NP
73

Redcar & Cleveland
509

South Tyneside
460

Stockton-on-Tees
861

Sunderland
859

Comparator Authorities: 
Planning Applications

Determined 
Year ending June 2019 

(Table B)

100 98.5 100

23.2

100 100 100

5.7

100 100 100

19.4

93.1
100

14.3

PRIORTY 1
24 HRS

PRIORITY 2
10 DAYS

PRIORITY 3
21 DAYS

% CASES CLOSED IN EXCESS OF 
100 DAYS

% Complaint responses in time (Table C)

Central East North South West Strategic

200, 
Central 

East

131, North

135, South 
West

168, 
Strategic 
(County)

Enforcement
Complaints

Received

Central East 

 

1 Enforcement appeal 

0 allowed 

South West 

 

1 Enforcement appeal 

0 allowed 

Strategic 
 

 

0 Enforcement appeals 

 

North 

 

1 Enforcement appeal 

0 allowed 

 

Page 53



 

 

Table A (% of Applications Decided in Time April 2019 – September 2019) 

Area 
Office/Benchmark 

NI157a – 
Majors - 

% 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

NI 157 b - 
Minors - 

% 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

NI 157 c - 
Others - 

% 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

Central East 100 8 8 79.1 129 102 96.7 398 385 

North 100 6 6 90 90 81 98.5 195 192 

South West 92.9 14 13 97.2 180 175 99.5 390 388 

Strategic 95.7 23 22 100 14 14 100 12 12 

Average 2017/18 97.6 
 

89.8 
 

96.3 
 

Target 2018/19 90.0 90.0 95.0 

Overall Result: 96.1 51 49 90.1 413 372 98.2 995 977 

          

 

Table B (Source - CLG Live planning statistics tables 132/134 year ending June 2019) 

Planning authority 

Total 
decisions 

% of decisions 
delegated 
to officers 

Major 
developments 

 % 
within 13 weeks 
or agreed time 

Minor 
developments 

% 
within 8 weeks 
or agreed time 

Other 
developments 

% 
within 8 weeks 
or agreed time 

England 403,217 95 88 85 91 

Durham 2543 96 95 92 98 

Darlington 529 94 90 86 86 

Gateshead 853 93 100 93 93 

Hartlepool 410 90 100 96 99 

Middlesbrough 512 95 86 75 80 

Newcastle upon Tyne 1252 96 87 88 86 

North Tyneside 881 96 94 99 99 

Northumberland UA 2091 93 66 71 80 

Northumberland NP 73 90 100 98 100 

Redcar Cleveland 509 87 100 96 97 

South Tyneside 460 97 100 100 99 

Stockton-on-Tees 861 97 84 87 93 

Sunderland 859 93 88 87 88 
 

Table C (% Complaint responses in time April 2019 – September 2019) 

Area 
Office/Benchmark 

Priority 
1 -24 
hours 

% 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

Priority 
2 -10 

day % 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

Priority 
3 - 21 

days % 

Total 
Apps 

Apps 
Achd 

Cases 
close 
100+ 

days % 

Total 
Cases 

100+ 

Central East 100 1 1 98.5 130 128 100 66 66 23.2 198 49 

North 100 4 4 100 74 74 100 54 54 5.7 141 8 

South West 100 5 5 100 75 75 100 59 59 19.4 124 24 

Strategic  0 0 93.1 58 54 100 116 116 14.3 119 17 

Average 2017/18 100   98.3   99.7   18.8   

Target 2018/19 100   100   100   <20   

Overall Result: 100 10 10 98.2 180 331 100 295 295 15.0 582 95 

 

Page 54



 
Planning Services  

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER:  
 
APPEAL UPDATE REPORT 
 

APPEALS DETERMINED 
 

Appeal against refusal of planning permission for the change of use of 
public open space to domestic curtilage at 41 Carrowmore Road, 
Parkfields, Chester-le-Street (DM/18/02961/FPA). 
 
Planning permission was refused by the Northern Area Planning Committee 
on 21st December 2018 on the following grounds:  
 
The proposed change of use of land to domestic garden and its enclosure 
would have an unacceptable effect upon an important landscape feature 
which by virtue of its open nature and appearance significantly contributes to 
the character and visual amenity of the area contrary to Part (i) of Policy HP16 
of the Chester-le-Street District Local Plan. 
 
The appeal was dealt with by way of written representations and an 
unaccompanied site visit. 
 
The Inspector considered the main issue to be the impact on the amenity 
value of the area. It was noted that the site contributes to the openness and 
greenery of the area offering benefits to both visual and physical amenity. The 
Inspector felt that creating a private garden on this part of the overall area of 
open land would reduce the area physically available for public use reducing 
its function for those who use it reducing overall residential amenity. 
 
It was noted by the Inspector that reducing public access to this area would 
be likely to reduce the anti-social behaviour reported by the appellant. 
Reducing anti-social behaviour is a public benefit to be considered alongside 
the more direct benefit to the appellant. The Inspector noted that the potential 
reduction in anti-social behaviour weighs in favour of the proposal. The benefit 
of a larger garden to the appellant was only given very limited weight. 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



The Inspector had concerns regarding boundary enclosures and the potential 
future appearance of the land. 
 
The potential reduction in anti-social behaviour was concluded to be a private 
benefit as well as a positive public benefit to which the Inspector attributed 
considerable weight. However, the harm from the reduction in public access 
to this area was felt to outweigh this benefit.  The short term harm to the 
character of the area was also found to weigh against the proposal.  The 
Inspector was concerned that in the long term the proposal may result in 
additional harm if the hedge and garden were not adequately maintained. 
Reducing the size of the open area was not considered to be a positive step 
and the Inspector did not feel that the proposal adequately takes into account 
the residential amenity and character of the area and as a result it would be at 
odds with policy HP16. 
 
The appeal was dismissed.  
 
Report prepared by Fiona Clarke (Principal Planning Officer) 
 
 

Page 56


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 26 September 2019
	5a DM/17/02333/OUT - Land to the North East of Castledene Road, Delves Lane
	5b DM/19/02431/FPA - The Wicket Gate, 193 Front Street, Chester-le-Street
	6 Planning Development Management Performance Summary Q1/Q2 - 2019/20
	7 Appeal Update

